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As one of New Zealand’s key 
infrastructure providers and a 
globally-renowned business, it is 
vitally important that Airways was 
able to demonstrate strength and 
operational integrity during the 
Canterbury earthquakes.

This report highlights both the 
impact on, and the resilience of, 
our systems and people following 
the Canterbury earthquakes.  
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Christchurch is home to around 400 Airways staff, 
working in the Control Tower at Christchurch 
International Airport, the air traffi c control and technical 
training centre and our operations centre, providing 
enroute and terminal services for the majority of New 
Zealand's domestic airspace. The centre provides 
fl ight information, National Briefi ng Offi ce and NOTAM 
Offi ce services, as well as technical support services for 
navigation infrastructure. Christchurch is also the site of 
the South Island’s only primary surveillance radar and 
one of two secondary surveillance radars. 

The speed with which air traffi c control 
services were recovered and re-established 
after the September and February earthquakes 
was integral not just to the local rescue 
operation, but fundamental to the delivery of 
national and international aid.  Every step of 
the way, Airways people kept New Zealand 
fl ying and in doing so, made the world 
possible during what will be remembered 
as one of the most diffi cult, devastating and 
defi ning moments in our history.
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4.35am All traffi c operating in New 

Zealand airspace transferred to 

contingency operations in Auckland; 

staff evacuated the Christchurch Radar 

Centre for a total of 40 minutes before 

resuming limited services. Christchurch 

Tower staff evacuated and relocated 

to the contingency site, where they 

resumed services. A fl ight inspection of 

the runway and PAPI lights at Christchurch 

International Airport was completed within 

hours of the earthquake, allowing the 

airport to re-open in the early afternoon.

12.51pm All commercial aircraft fl ying 

in controlled airspace at the time of 

the February quake were transferred to 

TIBA [an emergency communications 

procedure]. Our Auckland contingency 

site kept New Zealand airspace open 

until Christchurch staff re-entered the 

Radar Centre. The Christchurch Tower 

withstood the earthquake unscathed and 

staff remained onsite; resuming normal 

operations once the airport re-opened. 

There were no disruptions to Airways 

systems or infrastructure.

Saturday 4th September 2010 Tuesday 22nd February 2011

Normal scheduled services resumed 

from both the Christchurch Tower 

and Radar Centre, with only some 

minor restrictions in place around 

training. Staff from around New 

Zealand rallied in support of their 

Canterbury colleagues, donating 

money from social clubs and other 

fundraisers and offering ‘quake break’ 

homes, baches and time out for 

affected families. Our counterparts 

at Airservices Australia donated AU 

$20,000 to be distributed to badly-

affected Airways staff.
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We look back having witnessed two 

moments in history that will leave an 

indelible mark on our future. Airways, 

its Shareholder and the New Zealand 

public can be secure in the knowledge 

that our systems, technology, 

infrastructure and ultimately our 

people, withstood what will likely be 

the biggest test they will ever face.

Christchurch staff helped guide 

1572 military, commercial and 

non-scheduled fl ights into and 

out of Christchurch in the six 

days following the February 

earthquake. 

Christchurch staff resumed normal 

full service delivery with restrictions 

on training lifted and normal traffi c 

volumes re-established across New 

Zealand. The Crisis Management 

Team hosted a Serious Event De-brief 

to  ensure staff were able to talk 

about their experiences and infl uence 

future contingency planning and 

emergency preparedness.
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» View from Cass Peak Radar, Port Hills, Christchurch.
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Con Anastasiou, Chairman 

Monica Davis, Acting CEO

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 
AND ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Airways New Zealand delivers its Annual 

Report for 2010/2011 against a background of 

unprecedented oil price increases, continuing 

consumer uncertainty and the devastation caused 

by earthquakes in New Zealand and Japan, which 

adversely affected the already fragile global aviation 

industry. 

Whilst focussing on business performance, 

it is important to begin with a heartfelt 

acknowledgement of the endurance and 

resilience of Airways people during the year and 

their staunchness in the face of adversity; which 

they shared with the whole of the Christchurch 

community.  

The greater part of New Zealand’s domestic 

airspace is managed from our Christchurch Centre 

and accordingly when the earthquakes struck in 

September 2010 and again in February 2011, our 

most affected employees were also responsible for 

managing the emergency response.

As well as coping with the loss of a well-

respected colleague, Jill Murphy, who died as a 

result of injuries sustained in the central city, our 

people left devastated homes and families to come 

into work to deliver air navigation services.  By 

doing so, they kept New Zealand fl ying and made a 

critical contribution to the early rescue and recovery 

response. 
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Airways commitment to ‘making your world possible’ for our customers, 

stakeholders and ultimately, the New Zealand public, was evidenced in 

2010/11 with investment in a suite of service delivery and technology 

improvements. 

Airways worked collaboratively with its stakeholders to introduce new 

Performance-Based Navigation (PBN) procedure designs. Currently 

operational in Auckland and Christchurch, PBN delivers benefi ts to airlines 

by reducing fuel consumption; to the community through reduced noise; 

and to airport companies by increasing capacity and effi ciency. PBN is being 

rolled out at other airports, and in the coming fi nancial year, we will fi nalise 

systems and procedures to allow us to implement PBN in the southern 

region of the South Island.

Another signifi cant project this year was the installation of runway 

lighting at Queenstown Airport. This lighting will transform operations 

at the airfi eld, decreasing diversions due to poor weather conditions 

and providing tangible increases in operational capacity and safety. 

This initiative supports our airline customers and airport stakeholders 

to stimulate regional growth and delivers greater surety of service to a 

community heavily reliant on tourism.

Airways proud record of safety and systems integrity remained intact 

in 2010/11. We delivered 99.996% critical systems availability to our 

customers, despite a runway edge lighting failure at Auckland International 

Airport on the evening of 27 November 2010. This incident is detailed in 

the ‘Systems’ section of this report.

With over 1.1 million air traffi c movements into and around New 

Zealand, Airways recorded 21 incidents involving a loss of separation.  

Airways continues to make progress towards our stated goal of zero loss 

of separation incidents, with long term average fi gures showing a drop 

from 2.09 incidents per month in 2009/10 to 2.01 incidents per month 

for the 12 months to June 30, 2011.  

The fi nancial performance of both the domestic air navigation service 

(ANS) business and our growth portfolio was adversely affected by global 

and local environmental and economic conditions. 

While total revenues grew from $145.4 million last year to $152.6 

million this year, Underlying Net Operating Profi t after Tax (NOPAT) fell 

from $5.1 million to $4.8 million.  During the course of the year ANS 

revenue was negatively impacted by the volcanic ash cloud that affected 

New Zealand airspace in June, sporadically grounding trans-Tasman traffi c 

and some domestic carriers. The ash cloud also increased the complexity 

of controlling aircraft, requiring Airways to roster extra staff for the upper 

airspace sectors.  Combined with the cancellation of hundreds of fl ights, 

Airways recorded $0.75 million in lost revenue for the June quarter. 

The lingering effects of the global economic crisis continued to affect 

Airways key international markets. We did, however, achieve a measure 

of success in Asia, South Africa and the Middle East, securing contracts 

to provide training, IT solutions and revenue management systems. After 

a period of disturbance in the aviation industry there are now positive 

indicators for future global growth in the industry, with some analysts 

predicting a 5-6% increase in air traffi c in 2011/12. 

In the latter part of the fi nancial year, Airways restructured its growth 

businesses in response to market conditions, mindful of the need to 

adjust capacity to refl ect demand without impacting on our capacity to 

respond to future changes. 

“For Airways, working collaboratively affords 
us a wider view of the aviation sector, which 
means better, more inclusive and timely 
services and solutions. For our customers and 
stakeholders, it gives them the opportunity to 
be involved in infl uencing the decisions that will 

ultimately affect them. It’s win-win all the way.”

Lew Jenkins, Group Manager ANS Delivery
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Con Anastasiou

Chairman

Monica Davis

Acting CEO

Airways continual drive to be one of the best air navigation service 

providers (ANSPs) in the world was recognised with two international 

awards in 2010/11. The fi rst was for our Collaborative Arrivals Manager 

(CAM) product, which won an Aviation Asia Award (Environment and 

Technology section). The award recognises Airways innovation and 

acknowledges the signifi cant contribution this system has made to our 

customers’ fi nancial and environmental performance. Interest in CAM 

is growing internationally and Airways has entered into a partnership 

with German-based technology company, BARCO, to market the system 

globally.

The second was the Global Intranet Award for Business Process 

Improvement. The Global Intranet Awards are the world’s premier event 

for intranet improvements, attracting several thousand entries every year 

from which just nine Gold Category winners are chosen. Airways was 

a Gold category winner for its Regional Examiner’s Database function, 

which transformed a laborious manual examination creation process 

into a dynamic, automated tool that saves $100,000 in labour costs per 

annum. Airways was honoured to be acknowledged for its efforts around 

innovation and continual business improvement processes.

ASPIRE (Asia Pacifi c Initiative to Reduce Emissions) is another initiative 

which demonstrates Airways drive for continual improvement and our 

commitment to helping our customers succeed. Airways is a founding 

member of ASPIRE and this year we launched the fi rst ASPIRE-Daily route. 

The ASPIRE philosophy is for the industry to take active steps to reduce 

its environmental impact and Airways has proven instrumental in leading 

and implementing world’s best practice in air traffi c management and 

environmental stewardship.

We have acknowledged the contribution of Airways people, who, despite 

adversity, have continued to make the world possible for our customers, 

stakeholders and the travelling public. We also acknowledge that they did 

this in an environment of signifi cant change in our senior leadership team, 

including the departure of our Chief Executive Offi cer (CEO) of 12 years 

standing, Ashley Smout. Ashley made an extremely important contribution 

to Airways business and culture during his tenure. His legacy is a values-

driven organisation underpinned by the fundamentals of being safe, valuing 

each other and being good at what we do.

In July 2011, we were delighted to welcome Ed Sims as our new CEO. 

Ed brings to Airways 30 years of marketing, retail and aviation industry 

experience, most recently as Group General Manager International at Air 

New Zealand. 

Our immediate focus as we move into FY 2011/12 is to help to make 

the Rugby World Cup successful. Planning is already well underway to 

ensure the safe passage of the many thousands of people who will travel 

to and around New Zealand for what will be the biggest event ever staged 

in this country. Airways is absolutely committed to ensuring that we not 

only help make it possible, but through our professionalism, goodwill and 

commitment, we also ensure it is a resounding success. 

“Since its tiered introduction into Main Trunk 
airports in 2008-2010, we estimate CAM has saved 
airlines 28.4 million kgs of fuel (equivalent to 
more than $41.5 million saved) and reduced CO2 
emissions by 86.5 million kgs.”

Chris McGaw, CAM Specialist

The Airways Board acknowledges the tremendous contribution 

made by  Chairman, Con Anastasiou, who retired at the end of July 

2011.  During his time, Mr Anastasiou has delivered excellent return 

on investment results, championed the growth business and, most 

importantly, delivered a superb safety record.  

The Airways Board also acknowledges the Chairman's 

strong leadership during the Canterbury earthquakes.
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 » Development of a new commercial framework based 

on defi ned services and service levels.

 » Implementation of an Integrated Safety Management 

System which will embed safety into all levels of our 

organisation.

 » Delivery of a suite of service improvements which 

support our customers operational, environmental 

and growth mandates.

 » Further developing the quality and value of our 

services and products in the growth business.

STRATEGIC LOOKING FORWARD

Airways strategic priorities are published annually in our 

Statement of Corporate Intent. In 2011/12, our priorities include:



2010-11Snapshot

16  |



1,032,063
TOTAL NUMBER OF 
MOVEMENTS  Calendar year 2010

$152.6million

TOTAL REVENUE

$4.8million 
NOPAT

99.996% 
CRITICAL SYSTEMS 
AVAILABILITY

1572
RESCUE AND EMERGENCY 
AIR TRAFFIC MOVEMENTS 
CONTROLLED in the week following Feb 22 EQ

STAFF DELIVERING SERVICES 
IN NEW ZEALAND AND 
AROUND THE WORLD

750

» Te Weraiti Radar, Kaimai Ranges
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To be a key player in global 
air navigation services.

Our Vision

We work with our customers to 
get aircraft and their passengers 
where they want to go safely 
and effi ciently. We draw on our 
team work and expertise to 
grow the value of our business.

Our Mission

We are safe

We value each other

We are good at what we do

Our Values
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Safety - and therefore managing risk 
– is at the heart of Airways business.

Under
safe skies

Airways technicians were on site within an hour and 

services were restored in just over four hours. The site 

was unaffected after the February earthquake. 

Operationally, services were delivered largely 

uninterrupted. Training fl ight restrictions were imposed 

following both earthquakes,  largely to allow air traffi c 

controllers greater latitude in managing their workload 

whilst continuing aftershocks impacted staff member 

capacity and threatened short-term evacuations.

There can be no argument that our contingency 

plans as they stand have been tested and shown to 

work as they are designed to. It is with thanks to the 

professionalism of Airways staff who, by enacting their 

emergency procedures so quickly and effi ciently, ensured 

aviation safety and security was never compromised.

Despite the magnitude and extent of the damage and 

disruption caused by the Canterbury earthquakes, their 

effect on civil aviation in New Zealand was mitigated 

by robust contingency planning and emergency 

management.  

 Airways safety culture is critical to our performance and 

this was evidenced in our response to the earthquakes. 

Our Christchurch facilities have undergone a number 

of rigorous safety inspections since the earthquakes and 

subsequent aftershocks. All buildings remain structurally 

intact albeit with some cosmetic damage. 

Despite electricity being cut for several hours following 

the quakes, essential services were unaffected thanks 

to an Uninterrupted Power Supply (UPS) and diesel-

powered generator. Following the September earthquake, 

the network router connections to the Cass Peak Radar on 

the Port Hills were broken. 
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In 2009, Airways began promoting a ‘zero 

incidents’ approach to safety management. 

It came at a time when the reporting of 

incidents was actually increasing and whilst it 

is an aspirational goal, we now have enough 

data to prove we are making progress towards 

achieving it. 

TRENDING TOWARDS ZERO LOSS OF SEPARATION INCIDENTS

SURVEYING SAFETY

A robust safety culture relies on continual 

improvement and an open and honest reporting 

culture. In support of both, the Safety Unit 

undertook a company-wide safety survey in 

2011; the results of which will be used to 

infl uence and determine future priorities for 

safety management. Analysis of the survey 

responses indicated a strong affi liation with 

operational and systems safety in the ANS 

business, but this did not permeate throughout 

non-operational units (health and safety being 

the exception). As a result, we are looking to 

become one of the fi rst ANSPs in the world to 

implement an Integrated Safety Management 

System (ISMS), ahead of its mandated 

introduction [by ICAO and the CAA] in 

2013/14. 

The Safety Unit also undertook a 

comprehensive Serious Event Debrief 

following the Canterbury earthquakes in order 

to determine areas where we need to improve 

our contingency planning and/or emergency 

management and response. What emerged 

from that process was that whilst we relied 

on our training – resulting from our role as an 

Of the 1.1 million air traffi c movements in 

2010/11, Airways recorded 21 incidents where 

required separation standards were not met. Whilst 

this represents an actual increase from the previous 

year (in which 16 incidents were reported) the long 

term average measurements show that in the past 

three years, incidents have decreased to a 2.1 per 

month average, down from 2.9 in 2009/10.

essential service – to re-establish services and 

ensure minimal disruption to services, we were 

often operating in a vacuum of information – 

people outside of Christchurch were privy to 

more detailed information than those dealing 

with the response. Communicating with staff, 

customers and stakeholders was a challenge 

initially, and as a result we have invested in new 

communications channels to ensure that in 

future we are able to access and disseminate 

good information at speed.

"The earthquakes proved one thing: that Airways 
delivers safe and reliable services - no matter what."

Russ Buckley, Head of Safety and Risk
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SAFETY LOOKING FORWARD

 » Working towards the implementation of an Integrated Safety 

Management System.

 » Focussing our efforts around the ‘zero incidents’ goal through 

increased safety promotion initiatives, the introduction of a formal Risk 

Management Strategy and taking a more proactive approach to incident 

investigation.

 » Improving our understanding of human factors and the human/machine 

interface through a comprehensive research project; the fi ndings of 

which will be used to infl uence future SMS development. 
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Air Navigation 
Services

The speed with which air traffi c services were recovered 

and re-established after the September and February 

earthquakes was integral not just to the local rescue and 

recovery operation, but fundamental to the delivery of air 

navigation services into and around New Zealand, and to 

the support of the New Zealand economy.  

Airways took a stance very early on to manage our 

overarching need to deliver air navigation services by 

looking after the welfare of our people - business became 

personal. We established a family welfare centre on site 

so employees did not have to leave worried children and 

partners at home; we arranged special leave for those 

needing to organise emergency repairs, and we set up an 

online exchange site for staff materially unaffected by the 

quakes offering accommodation, hot showers and time 

out for those who were. 

These efforts meant our people were willing and 

able to cover their shifts – during both earthquakes we 

had service disruptions totalling just over two hours. A 

real sense of community emerged and the fl exibility, 

resilience and professionalism shown is a true refl ection 

of just how committed and engaged Airways people 

were with their role in helping to make the rescue and 

recovery effort possible.

|  25    
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Helping customers succeed has become an integral part of 

Airways brand. Our efforts are centred on contributing to the 

commercial and environmental goals of our customers and airport 

partners, as well as understanding our role in supporting ‘NZ Inc’. 

For Airways,  the ‘perfect fl ight’ is about enhancing the safety and 

effi ciency of our own structures and procedures, to enable airlines 

to achieve maximum benefi t from their on board technology. This 

encapsulates our strategic goal of moving from air traffi c controlling 

to air traffi c enabling, as signalled in our industry blueprint 

document, Vision 2015.

In 2010/11 we continued our collaborative efforts to streamline 

our services and introduce a suite of ground-based technology 

enhancements to increase the effi ciency of airborne systems.   

THE PERFECT FLIGHT

Collaborative Arrivals Manager (CAM) is the fi rst signifi cant step 

towards creating an air traffi c enabling environment. CAM has 

changed the whole operating environment for domestic passenger 

fl ights in New Zealand and has been widely embraced by our 

airline customers because of the fi nancial and environmental 

outcomes it achieves.

In 2010/11 Airways began marketing CAM internationally 

through a partnership with technology giant, BARCO. We also 

further developed the technology to include an Arrivals Manager 

(AMAN) component. The arrival phase of fl ight can be very 

ineffi cient in terms of fuel burn; using AMAN will allow predictable 

and effi cient descent profi les and ensure delays are managed 

during effi cient phases of fl ight. Used in conjunction with CAM, 

AMAN will further reduce delays and ultimately avoid the need 

for aircraft to hold near airports. It will also benefi t airports and 

communities through reduced noise contours.

“The sheer scale of this disaster can never match the strength and integrity of our 
people. Time and time again, they showed themselves to be consummate professionals, 
leaving broken homes and battered communities to fulfi ll their responsibilities in keeping 
New Zealand skies open for business. Airways made a conscious decision to focus on 
the welfare of its staff and their families, and in hindsight that was the right thing to do. 
We supported them; they supported New Zealand.”

PERFORMANCE-BASED NAVIGATION

Performance-based Navigation (PBN) and its more advanced component, 

Required Navigation Procedures (RNP), are further examples of Airways 

commitment to working with its airline customers and airport stakeholders 

to deliver simplifi ed, consistent air traffi c management.  Since the PBN 

implementation project commenced in 2009, it has delivered signifi cant 

operating benefi ts at New Zealand’s Main Trunk airports, specifi cally to airlines 

through shortened tracks between departure point and destination. This results 

in less fuel consumption and reduced CO2 emissions, which in turn contributes 

to the ‘NZ Inc’ sustainability profi le.

As we introduce advanced PBN procedure designs to Auckland, Wellington, 

Christchurch and Queenstown, Airways will deliver signifi cant benefi ts to the 

wider community by reducing the noise profi le of approaching aircraft. An 

excellent example of this is the procedure design at Auckland where tracks 

have been designed to allow aircraft to fl y over industrial land where possible, 

rather than residential areas. Departure procedures have also been changed to 

do the same. 

Factoring noise contours into our PBN research is another example 

of Airways understanding and responding to the changing needs of our 

customers and the communities they support. Whilst there is no fi nancial gain 

for Airways, there is real business value because not only are we helping our 

customers succeed, we are listening to communities and recognising  that the 

management of ‘noise’ is an element of good environmental stewardship.

Even greater than its economic and environmental benefi ts, PBN also 

contributes to enhanced safety performance. Providing aircraft profi les that 

match the design capabilities of advanced airborne systems increases the 

predictability of aircraft operations and creates a consistent framework. For 

Airways, PBN means that the operating characteristics of our customers are 

closely aligned with our own capabilities and objectives.

New Zealand’s three Main Trunk airports now utilise PBN procedures as their 

primary arrival and departure option.  This baseline standard will be expanded 

to achieve a nationwide roll-out by 2015.

COLLABORATIVE ARRIVALS MANAGER

Paul Fallow, Main Trunk Services Manager
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In February 2011, Airways enabled the inaugural ASPIRE-Daily 

fl ight from Auckland to San Francisco - heralding the beginning of a 

programme that will eventually deliver gate to gate environmental 

best practice to airlines operating throughout the Asia Pacifi c region.

ASPIRE (Asia Pacifi c Initiative to Reduce Emissions) was 

established in 2008; a partnership between Airways New Zealand, 

the Federal Aviation Administration and Airservices Australia. 

Membership has since extended to include CAAS (Singapore), 

JCAB (Japan) and Aerothai (Thailand).

Following a series of ASPIRE demonstration fl ights in 2008/09, 

linking NZ, Australia and the US, extensive data gathering and 

performance modelling has allowed the success of these ‘one-off’ 

test fl ights to be repeated on a daily basis. 

ASPIRE-Daily fl ights are certifi ed with a ‘star’ rating system, 

based on the number of best practice procedures available, 

with three stars representing the minimum required, and fi ve 

stars indicating all best practices are available.  Best practices 

include User Preferred Routings, Dynamic Airborne Reroutes 

and reduced separation in the Oceanic environment, as well 

as Arrival and Departure Optimisation.

Other ASPIRE-Daily routes linking Australia, Japan, 

Singapore and the US have been implemented, with further 

city pairs scheduled across the Eastern and Western part of 

the Asia Pacifi c region.

“ASPIRE-Daily is a working example of what can be achieved through intercontinental, 
inter-agency, airline and ANSP cooperation. Built on solid metrics, ASPIRE-Daily is 
the fi rst in a series of future improvements that will deliver signifi cant environmental 
outcomes in one of the world’s fastest growing aviation markets.“ 

ASPIRE
Daily

Mark Goodall, ASPIRE Coordinator for Airways 
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SIMULATOR TRAINING

The ability to train staff effi ciently and within tight timeframes has 

come at signifi cant cost to the regional business over a number of 

years. Because regional is the ‘nursery’ from which newly trained 

controllers gain their ratings, on-the-job-training (OJT) requires 

experienced staff to be off the roster for extended periods of time, 

thus impacting staffi ng levels at a number of regional towers. 

This year trials were carried out to test the benefi t of Simulator 

Training to train new controllers in a ‘real world environment’, at the 

same time reducing overall training times. The trial at Ohakea Tower 

saw a time reduction of 40% over traditional training methods. The 

success of this Simulator Training trial will be extended to include 

other regional towers in the coming year.

REGIONAL SERVICES

Airways commitment to helping airports stimulate regional 

growth was evidenced in 2011 with two major service 

enhancements successfully implemented at Queenstown Airport. 

Queenstown Airport Corporation initiated a project to install 

runway lights to augment daytime low visibility operations. The 

imperative for the installation of these lights came after Airways 

earlier investment in PBN and RNP procedures allowed suitably 

equipped aircraft to access Queenstown in reduced minima 

conditions. The issue for pilots was that whilst they had the 

technology on board to land aircraft to these minimas, they 

did not have suffi cient clarity to see the runway. Now with the 

technology on board and the lights on the ground, aircraft that 

otherwise would have had to hold or divert to another airport 

can land safely in Queenstown. 

Airways is currently working with General Electric (GE) to 

redesign Queenstown airspace to accommodate expected traffi c 

growth of 40% in the region over the next fi ve years. New PBN 

arrival and departure paths will ease capacity constraints and 

improve air traffi c fl ow. Conventional procedures for non-RNP 

traffi c will be integrated to ensure better access for all operators. 

Following its success at New Zealand’s three Main Trunk 

airports, CAM was installed into Queenstown in 2010/11 to 

assist with airborne and holding delays. 

In conjunction with our airline customers and airport 

stakeholders, Airways is developing  a fi ve year Strategic Air 

Traffi c Management Plan for Queenstown, which identifi es key 

areas for continued operational changes to enable us to safely 

and effi ciently meet the challenges of growth.
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ANS LOOKING FORWARD

 » The implementation of the AMAN Arrivals Manager for arriving 

fl ights into Auckland, providing dynamic, real-time arrival 

spacing and greater accuracy for optimised descent profi ling, 

which will reduce fuel burn and aircraft noise.

 » Progressing the national capability for PBN utilising satellite 

technology. The emphasis of work in 2011/12 will be 

around airspace and airports to the south of Christchurch for 

implementation in November 2012.

Airways offi cially launched the Paraparaumu Flight Information Service 

(PP FIS) in July 2011, refl ecting our commitment to meeting the 

changing needs of our customers. CAA deemed that the volume and 

mix of air traffi c warranted the re-establishment of an Aerodrome FIS.  

Airways actively worked with the Kapiti Coast Airport to establish the 

new service infrastructure and requirements – the fi rst new service of its 

kind established in New Zealand in more than 20 years.  

PP FIS will operate between 6.30am-8pm seven days a week, 

delivering services to Air Nelson’s commercial fl eet, local tourism 

operators, the general aviation community and fi xed-wing training and 

helicopter operations on the airfi eld.

PARAPARAUMU AERODROME FLIGHT SERVICE 

Airways made signifi cant progress in 2010/11 towards its Aeronautical 

Information Service (AIS) modernisation programme.  One of the major 

milestones during the period was the establishment of an aeronautical 

information database for New Zealand, from which Enroute charts and 

the CAA’s Air Navigation Register are now generated. Refl ecting our 

commitment to customer service, digital charts have now been made 

available for use on GPS units and iPads and other new e-products are 

being investigated and developed. 

Prompted by the global aviation industry recession, increased pressure 

around cost management and service provision, and CANSO’s directive 

for ANSPs to work collaboratively and in partnership, Airways has been 

working with Airservices Australia on a ‘regional solution’ to our NOTAM 

and pre-fl ight Briefi ng Systems upgrade. Both are due for replacement 

in the coming fi nancial year so it is a timely opportunity for us to move 

towards the establishment of compatible ATM systems, using the same 

technology and taking advantage of our collective buying power. 

AERONAUTICAL INFORMATION MANAGEMENT

Airways will continue to lead and implement key enablers from 

the Vision 2015 Air Traffi c Management Strategic Plan, including:

 » Preparation and development of plans for the national 

implementation of ADS-B surveillance to replace the existing 

Secondary Surveillance Radar system by 2020. Initially 

this will include expansion of the existing Queenstown 

multilateration and ADS-B systems across the southern part 

of the South Island by June 2013.  

 » Progress a business case in consultation with the airlines for 

the deployment of data-link communications.
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Systems
 As a critical services provider, Airways has robust 

technology in place to manage and maintain its 

key infrastructural assets - a number of which are 

located in Christchurch. Despite the combined 

magnitude of the September and February 

earthquakes, they had a negligible impact on 

systems availability and caused only minor damage 

to some equipment. Essential services  were not 

impacted by electricity outages thanks to our 

UPS and diesel-powered generator. 

The earthquakes were a test of the strength 

and integrity of our systems; and testament 

to the professionalism and tenacity of the 

people charged with maintaining this critical 

navigation infrastructure. 

» DVOR at Auckland International Airport
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There were two signifi cant projects around 

lighting this year - the most recent being the 

installation of airfi eld lighting at Queenstown.  The 

$1 million project will transform operations at the 

airfi eld, increasing capacity and safety; supporting 

Queenstown Airport’s goal of stimulating growth 

and delivering greater surety of services to the 

community. The lights will complement other 

Airways initiatives which will extend the operational 

capacity of the airfi eld and allow aircraft to access 

Queenstown in reduced minima conditions.

On the evening of 27 November 2010, the 

runway edge lights at Auckland International 

Airport (AIAL) failed, affecting 17 domestic and 

international fl ights which had to be diverted to 

Hamilton, Wellington and Christchurch airports.   

Runway lighting is a critical element of aviation 

infrastructure and as such, Airways has built-in 

AIRFIELD LIGHTING

levels of redundancy, allowing for elements of the 

lighting system (20%) to fail without impacting on 

fl ight operations. However, on the evening of 27 

November four of the fi ve cables failed. Failure on 

this scale is unprecedented in Airways history.

Staff were on site within 30 minutes of the 

outage and began the process of isolating and 

testing each circuit to narrow down where, within 

the 30+ kilometres of cabling, the fault had 

occurred. Work continued through the night and 

by 3.50 am the following morning, the airport was 

returned to full operational service.

A full investigation into the lighting failure found 

the most likely cause to be the works involving 

the placement of two ducts above, and in close 

proximity to, the lighting cables. This appears to be 

related to installation of the ducts as part of the 

runway widening project in 2006. 

Airways is ultimately responsible for airfi eld 

lighting and whilst the report shows that this 

failure was not attributable to Airways, it made 

a number of recommendations which Airways 

has subsequently adopted to ensure failure 

on this scale can never be repeated. Those 

recommendations included bringing forward 

a scheduled programme of lighting cable 

replacement; and closer collaboration between 

Airways and AIAL to ensure stringent supervision 

of activities undertaken in proximity to the 

lighting infrastructure is in place.
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navigational aid aspect of Airways future PBN 

programme. Phase 2 of the project (set down 

for FY 2012/13) will see further life cycle 

replacement of the DVOR/DMEs at regional 

airfi elds around New Zealand.

DVOR/DME UPGRADE PROJECT

Over the past 12 months Airways design 

and installation engineers have successfully 

completed phase 1 of the life cycle upgrade  

of New Zealand's DVOR/DMEs. Auckland, 

Wellington and Christchurch DVOR/DMEs have 

been upgraded, along with seven DMEs in the 

North Island.

DVOR/DMEs (Doppler VHF Omni-directional 

Radio Range) are a key element of Airways 

base navigational infrastructure, providing short-

range (within 200NM) en route and approach 

directional guidance to aircraft.

First commissioned in 1992-94, there are 

18 DVOR/DMEs throughout New Zealand. The 

life cycle replacement programme will deliver 

greater accuracy, more reliability of service and 

therefore enhanced safety to our customers. 

The project also cements the ground-based 

“Undeterred by damage 
to their own homes and 
communities, our technical 
staff were absolutely 
committed to ensuring our 
services were able to keep 
functioning at a time when 
Christchurch - and indeed 
New Zealand - needed us 
more than ever.”

Andrew Griffi th, GM Systems
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FLIGHT-YIELD™ 

In 2008, Airways developed the world’s pre-eminent revenue 

management system, Flight-Yield™. Since then, it has been 

successfully delivered to China, Saudi Arabia, Fiji and Papua New 

Guinea. 

Flight-Yield™ converts fl ight and direct service data into 

aeronautical charges (ANS and airport), produces invoices and 

retains fl ight information for performance measurement and long 

term planning. Its installation in China is a signifi cant milestone 

for Airways given the region’s status as the world’s third largest 

for traffi c volume - 3.5 million fl ights per annum with predicted 

double-digit growth over the next decade. 

INTERNATIONAL CONSULTING 

Our design and installation engineers, along with our 

operational requirements specialists, continue to deliver on a 

range of multi-million dollar contracts in Oman, Kuwait and the 

Philippines. This year saw the end to our long-term collaborative 

consultancy project for the Taipei Flight Information region 

in Taiwan. Airways partnered with the MITRE Corporation in 

2003 on a programme that included modernisation of its air 

traffi c management and communications systems; facilities 

consolidation, airspace restructuring and operational procedures 

enhancements. 

Airways continues to pursue a number of valuable contracts 

in other parts of Asia and the Middle East.
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SYSTEMS LOOKING FORWARD

 » Commence the migration to a new 

aeronautical messaging network 

and complete the Arrivals Manager 

(AMAN) system for Auckland.

 » Commissioning a new tower at 

Paraparaumu for Kapiti Coast 

Airport.

The focus on the coming year will ensure our core infrastructure is refreshed, back offi ce technologies 

are upgraded and growth activities continue to be world class. Key aspects include:

 » Maintain our focus on critical system 

availability.

 » Continue to focus on Flight-Yield™ sales 

and current support requirements.

 » Maintain and grow consultancy services 

in key target markets in the Middle 

East, Asia and the Pacifi c.

 » Commence the mid-life upgrade 

of the ATM systems' hardware 

and operating systems.

 » Continue the lighting systems 

upgrade project at Auckland and 

Christchurch airports.



The value of Airways relationship-building efforts 

in the Middle East was evidenced in 2011 when 

our Saudi Arabian students fl ed Christchurch after 

the February earthquake; many vowing never to 

return to New Zealand. A mere eight months into 

their two-year air traffi c control (ATC) diploma 

course, their departure came as a signifi cant 

blow to the many Airways staff who had worked 

tirelessly to secure the contract and ensure the 

wellbeing of the students during their time here. 

After many weeks of negotiations with 

the students, their families and government 

Training
representatives, coupled with a nation-wide hunt 

for new premises, Airways Training staff secured an 

alternative training site in Auckland. This allowed 

the students to complete their fi rst year; and a 

new site at Massey University’s Palmerston North 

campus was refurbished to accommodate their 

second year of training. Whilst the current group 

of 28 students settles into this new site, a second 

group of 32 students will commence their two-

year diploma course in Auckland in September. 

It is hoped that this second group will return to 

Christchurch mid-2012 to complete their studies. 
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Airways achieved a milestone in 2010/11, with its fi rst offshore sale of 

the 360˚ Total Control simulator. The state-of-the art simulator was sold 

to South Africa - the culmination of years of research, development and 

innovation, which will deliver ‘real world’ training to air traffi c controllers in 

South Africa and, eventually, to many other parts of the continent. 

The multi-million dollar contract includes the design of the simulator, 

provision of software adaptation and training. Airways is also working 

with Dunedin company, Animation Research Ltd, to build the required 

graphics to be used in the simulator. The South African sale is signifi cant 

because it means Airways technology and expertise is now installed in a 

region tipped to become a huge aviation market in the future.

GROWTH FOR TRAINING

Airways Training business was negatively impacted in 2010/11 by the 

Christchurch earthquakes and a very fl at international marketplace. During 

the year we provided training for a range of global customers including 

Hong Kong, the Pacifi c Islands, China, Vietnam and Saudi Arabia. However, 

new training contracts were diffi cult to secure and we did not meet our 

year-end fi nancial targets. 

Future growth is on the horizon and whilst it will not impact training 

revenue until at least 2011/12, Airways has been working closely with 

the developers of India’s Capa Aeropark Aviation University being built in 

Bangalore. India is one of the few global markets currently showing any 

real prospect of growth and because of our international reputation as a 

quality provider, Airways Training has been invited to submit a proposal for 

the supply of air traffi c control training. Success here will mean the delivery 

of services into the key emerging growth markets of India, Asia and the 

Middle East. 

SIMULATING AFRICAN SKIES

Airways is world-renowned for its delivery of superior training 

products and services. Our reputation for excellence was further 

cemented in 2010/11 when we were invited by the International 

Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) to join a working group to 

determine the core competencies for ab initio (air traffi c controller) 

training. After the presentation of Airways training framework, it was 

agreed to base the ICAO certifi cation framework on our model, which 

includes competency-based methodology and competencies that 

refl ect the generic ATC skills and behaviours of an air traffi c controller 

– two areas that put us well ahead of other international training 

methodologies.

SIMPLY THE BEST

“It was diffi cult enough for our own staff coping with the aftermath of the February earthquake 
so you can only imagine the impact it had on our Saudi Arabian students, away from their 
families for the fi rst time in their lives, trying to deal with the unimaginable in an unfamiliar 
environment. It is testament to their resilience and to the unwavering efforts of our staff that 
they’re back in New Zealand and working towards becoming air traffi c controllers.” 

In 2009, driven by the global industry recession, increased 

pressure from our customers around cost management and service 

provision, and CANSO’s directive for ANSPs to work in partnership, 

Airways embarked on a collaborative partnership with Airservices 

Australia. 

A number of growth opportunities have resulted: the provision of 

Sure Select, a bespoke recruitment and selection tool for air traffi c 

controllers; and a contract to design and install fi ve ‘virtual airports’ 

for Airservices’ aerodrome simulator. Funding has already been 

approved for another 12 airports in the coming fi nancial year and 

Airways Training is optimistic of future involvement in these airports. 

TRANS-TASMAN TRAINING

Sharon Cooke, GM Training
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TRAINING LOOKING FORWARD

 » The development of e-learning; learner-centred training and multiple-

location training in New Zealand.

 » Improving customer value through academic and offshore partnerships.

 » A further sale of the 360° Total Control Simulator in the Middle East. 

 » Further cementing our brand presence in China. 

“Growth is built on a foundation of reputation. A keystone in this 
foundation is ensuring that effective training and documentation is available 

to Airways technical trainees, new technicians and all Systems staff in the 
support of capital replacement. Pacifi c States in particular have shown 

interest in the Airways Technical Trainee Programme and placed students 
on several technical foundation courses over the last year. The Technical 

Training team will continue to refi ne its trainee development programme, 
which positively supports the Airways business and contributes to Growth.”

Airways Training will continue its delivery of current and new 

contracts into key markets in Asia, the Pacifi c and Middle East. 

Our growth focus will include:

Supporting Growth

Dave Cooper, Training and Information Support Manager



Our people
The majority of our people are based in Christchurch, 

which meant the impact of the earthquakes was 

keenly felt at the very core of our business. Yet from 

the destruction and tragedy, we saw hope, resilience 

and camaraderie. Airways people – in Christchurch and 

around the country – rallied together as never before.  

Our operational teams across the country ensured that 

66 aircraft landed safely following the evacuation of our 

main radar centre on 22 February and in the following 

days, Christchurch Tower assisted the emergency and 

civil defence fl ights into and around Christchurch city. 

Our systems and technical colleagues kept our vital 

infrastructural lifelines pumping; managers supported 

their teams and continued to develop contingency 

plans to ensure they kept functioning long after the 

adrenalin had faded and grief and loss had taken its 

place. Airways people around the country stepped in 

to help out with donations, kind words and offers of 

accommodation for their Christchurch colleagues and 

families. It was an amazing effort that made the world 

of difference. 
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Workforce planning is integral to Airways ability to deliver both 

safe and commercially successful services. Because of the lead time 

involved in training our technicians and controllers, coupled with 

international demand for our highly skilled and experienced people, we 

have to ensure suffi cient staffi ng capacity for our domestic and offshore 

operations whilst also ensuring that we do not carry surplus staffi ng 

capacity. This year we have achieved full staffi ng of controllers which 

is a signifi cant turnaround from the shortages we fi rst experienced in 

2007/08.

ONE OF NEW ZEALAND’S 
BEST PLACES TO WORK

Airways has put in signifi cant effort over a number of years to raise 

the culture of our company from ‘good to great’. We monitor progress 

towards our stated goal of being ranked amongst New Zealand’s Best 

Places to Work (benchmarked by JRA Ltd) through our annual People 

Survey.

In 2011, we carried on our year-to-year trend of increasing 

participation rates (from 51% in 2001 to 82% in 2011) and 

engagement scores. We welcomed a further 18 teams into the ‘Best 

Places to Work’ category which means 30% of Airways teams are 

now in this category. These results are the culmination of prolonged 

effort at all levels – from the Executive and CEO, managers, team 

leaders and perhaps most signifi cantly, our people up and down the 

country who continue to support and drive this cultural change.

Consistent with the wider business community, Airways is seeing 

positive business results from higher levels of engagement. Teams 

with higher levels of engagement have lower levels of sick leave, 

they submit more ideas for improvements, achieve better internal 

customer service ratings and most importantly, achieve improved 

compliance with the procedures and systems which underpin our 

safety culture.

PLANNING FOR SUCCESS

“Now, as we regain a sense of normality and as things slowly begin to get back to the ‘way 
they were’ in our community, it’s important for people to tell their stories, to share their 
memories and feelings and to acknowledge that not only did they live through what will 
become part of New Zealand’s history, they made an enormous contribution to the rescue 
and recovery of Christchurch. Airways people really did make the world possible.”

One of the key planks in our change initiative has been the 

development of leadership capability within Airways. We have 

introduced standardised training linked to our leadership competencies 

which enables all leaders to access development as appropriate. All 

new leaders have a two year development programme to build their 

leadership skills. We have made coaching an important requirement of 

our leadership team because the People Survey results demonstrate 

those managers who do coach are seen to be more focused on 

individual development and have better goal alignment with their 

teams. Consequently, we have encouraged the majority of current 

managers and team leaders to attend the coaching course.

LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT

Monica Davis, GM Corporate Services
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 » Bands 4 Hope (Christchurch earthquake)

 » Air New Zealand kids@christmas Charity 

Auction

 » SPCA Christchurch (donation of goods 

collected from staff)

 » Women’s Refuge (donation of goods 

collected from staff)

 » Burnside Boys First XI Football Team

 » St Martins School Community Event 

(raising funds to help rebuild their school 

which suffered extensive damage in the 

February 22 earthquake)

 » Marist Girls’ Hockey 

FOR THE AVIATION COMMUNITY

 » Gold Sponsor of the 2011 Aviation 

Industry Association (AIA) Conference

 » New Zealand Airports' Conference

 » South Island Gliding Championships

 » Air Training Corps Association of NZ 

National Aviation Course 2011 (RNZAF)

 » Ex-Airwomen Reunion 2011 (Auckland 

Ex-WAAF Association)

 » CAA Flight Examiners’ Seminar

 » Air Training Corps (Tauranga)

 » The Great Northern Air Race

 » RNZAF Golfi ng Society Annual 

Tournament

 » Air Nelson Golf Tournament

 » Young Eagles (Invercargill)

FOR THE COMMUNITY

 » The Airways Hawks – Christchurch 

touch rugby team

 » The Airways Paddlateers –  Christchurch 

dragon boat team

 » Glenn C Ashton Memorial Scholarship

 » New Plymouth Tower -  indoor netball 

team

 » Hamilton Tower – social league 

basketball team;  indoor netball team 

 » Christchurch radar centre - social soccer 

team

 » Tauranga Tower – touch rugby mixed 

league

 » Airways Annual Golf Tournament

 » Airways Children’s Christmas Party

FOR AIRWAYS

Airways has a comprehensive sponsorship portfolio, based principally on 

supporting our commercial relationships within the aviation industry and meeting 

our corporate social responsibilities by contributing to safety, employee welfare and 

community-based initiatives.

In 2011, we broadened our sponsorship criteria to ensure we were able to 

support Christchurch communities to recover from the effects of the earthquakes.

AIRWAYS IN THE COMMUNITY
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PEOPLE LOOKING FORWARD 

 » Utilising key events such as the Rugby World Cup to reinforce our brand 

– making your world possible.

 » Enhancing the selection and development process for leaders within Airways.

 » Piloting team level performance reporting (KPIs).

 » Working to increase the consistency of coaching; improving communication 

around organisational performance.

 » Successfully negotiating the controllers' collective employment agreement 

(CEA).

Airways will continue its journey from 'good to great' by:
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AIRWAYS BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CONSTANTINE  ANASTASIOU  |  Chairman, LLB (HONS), BA

Con was appointed to the Airways Board in 2000. He is a lawyer specialising in corporate law, commercial 

law, intellectual property law and resource management law.

He is a member of the New Zealand Law Society, a Fellow of the New Zealand Institute of Management, 

a member of the New Zealand Institute of Directors and an Associate of the Arbitrators and Mediators 

Institute of New Zealand.

ANTHONY BRISCOE  |  BA, Diploma in International Marketing (Hons)

Anthony was appointed to the Airways Board in November 2006. Until July 2011, Anthony was General 

Manager of Telecom New Zealand International, which operates Telecom’s international voice, data and 

Internet networks. He is an executive director of Blacksock Consulting Ltd and is an IOD Accredited Director.

TERRY MURDOCH  

Terry was appointed to the Airways Board in 2009. He is the Chief Executive and director of Pacifi c Jets Ltd. 

He has more than  25 years experience in General Aviation, and has represented the industry on a number 

of committees and advisory groups. He is a commercial pilot holding Flight Examiner and Instructor ratings. 

He is also a member of the New Zealand Institute of Directors.

SUSAN PATERSON  |  Deputy Chair, BPharm, MBA (London)

Susan was appointed to the Airways Board in May 2006. She has experience as a general manager and 

strategy consultant with a number of companies in New Zealand, the USA, and Europe. Her current 

directorships include Goodman Property, Les Mills NZ Ltd, Theta Systems, and Abano Healthcare Ltd.

Susan has a keen interest in education and the environment and is on the Board of Trustees of NZ Eco-

Labelling Trust and previously, St Cuthbert’s College. Susan’s previous Directorships include Transpower NZ 

Ltd, Ports of Auckland, Tower Health and Life, and the Energy Effi ciency and Conservation Authority.
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GRAEME REEVES  |  BA, LLB

Graeme was appointed to the Airways Board in April 2007. He is a lawyer specialising in commercial law, 

asset protection and employment law. He is a member of the Gambling Commission, and a member 

of the New Zealand Law Society. Graeme has  corporate governance experience in the public and 

private sectors.

SUSAN HURIA
Susan Huria is a specialist in the Maori sector with experience in governance, human resources, marketing 

communications and general management. She held a senior role at Auckland International Airport for ten 

years before starting her own management practice in 2000, Huria Anders. Her previous governance roles 

include Radio New Zealand Limited, Housing New Zealand Corporation, NgaiTahu Development Corporation 

and Workbase, the national centre for workplace literacy. 

Current governance roles include, deputy chair AgResearch, director of Watercare Services, director of 

Northland Port, director of Veterinary Enterprises and trustee of First Foundation.

DAVE PARK  |  BE(Hons), MSc, MBA 

Dave was appointed to the Airways Board in 2010. A professionally qualifi ed aeronautical engineer he has 

held senior Flight Operations management positions in two airlines and now provides aviation consulting 

advice to a range of airports, airlines and international aviation businesses.  He is a member of the Royal 

Aeronautical Society, the Guild of Air Pilots and Air Navigators and is UK Chartered Engineer.

SUSAN PUTT  |  BCom, CA
Susan was appointed to the Airways Board in 2008. She has fi nancial and strategic management 

experience and is a qualifi ed Chartered Accountant. Susan has held senior management positions such 

as Chief Financial Offi cer and Strategy Manager in various companies. She is a member of the New 

Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants and a Provisionally Accredited member of the New Zealand 

Institute of Directors. Susan is a Member of the Board of the YWCA.
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AIRWAYS EXECUTIVE TEAM

MARK LOVEARD
Chief Financial Officer

ANDREW GRIFFITH
Group Manager Systems

LEW JENKINS
Group Manager ANS Delivery

SHARON COOKE
Group Manager Training

MONICA DAVIS
Group Manager Corportate Services  
Acting Chief Executive Officer
(February-July 2011)

ASHLEY SMOUT
Chief Executive Officer 
(until February 2011)



|  53    airways annual report 2010-2011



54  | airways annual report 2010-2011



|  55    airways annual report 2010-2011

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

GROUP NOPAT (NZD) 2010/2011 2009/2010

Domestic  $5.0m  $2.7m

Growth ($0.2m)  $2.4m

Total  $4.8m*  $5.1m* 

GROUP REVENUE (NZD) 2010/2011 2009/2010

Domestic $132.5m  $123.8m

Growth $20.1m $21.6m

Total  $152.6m $145.4m

Airways Financial performance for 2010/11 year is detailed in the following pages. 

The 2010/11 Financial Year was a challenging year for the 

Airways businesses with both the Domestic and the Growth 

businesses performing below the planned level. The Airways 

Group of Companies reported a $4.8 million NOPAT for the 

2010/11 year which compares to $5.1million for the previous 

fi nancial year. 

The NOPAT result included in this commentary and the 

Chairman and Acting Chief Executive message is prior to the 

effect of the change to tax depreciation on buildings.

DOMESTIC REVENUES

Revenues were 7.1% higher than the previous year due mainly to 

a 7.5% price increase for aerodrome services, approach services and 

en-route oceanic charges, which came into effect on 1 July 2010. 

During the year revenue volumes came under pressure due to the 

withdrawal of Pacifi c Blue from the New Zealand domestic market in 

September, followed by the impact of the Canterbury earthquakes 

and latterly, the Chilean Ash Cloud.

International Air Navigation revenues performed above expectation 

largely as a result of new international carriers entering the New 

Zealand market and an increase in capacity from existing carriers.  

DOMESTIC EXPENSES

Expenses were up on the previous year due to higher labour costs, 

infl ationary increases on operating expenditure and higher borrowing 

costs. Costs were also up due to an impairment of a piece of land, which 

has become surplus to requirements. Airways has an obligation to offer 

this land back to the former owner. 

*Prior to the impact of “Change to tax depreciation on buildings”.

GROWTH BUSINESS

The Growth business faced a tough international business 

environment which resulted in low sales and a lower than planned 

profi t result for the year.  Costs were also higher than the previous 

year due mainly to software impairment costs and the write-off 

of unrecoverable work in progress. During the year the Growth 

business completed the implementation of the Flight Yield product 

into China and completed a majority of the implementation of the 

product into Saudi Arabia.   

OUTLOOK

In 2011/12, the Airways Group of Companies is forecasting 

NOPAT of $6.5 million: $4.6 million from the Domestic business 

and $1.9 million from the Growth business. The forecast refl ects 

predicted low revenue growth in the domestic business due to 

the continued international economic uncertainty, a slow-down in 

domestic air traffi c movements and changes to the Growth business 

to enhance performance.
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1. SAFE & RELIABLE

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Continue to maintain levels of safety which are comparable with best international practice in terms of loss of 
separation and incident reporting culture. 

ACHIEVED

Ensure that critical maintenance is completed and that the average systems availability of 99.95% is achieved with a 
goal of 99.995% for critical systems. 

ACHIEVED

Successfully introduce the new maintenance management software and complete all system maintenance optimisation 
reviews. 

ACHIEVED 

2. MOTIVATED AND PREPARED WORKFORCE

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Negotiate the collective agreements expiring in 2010/11 within acceptable parameters. ACHIEVED

Align Airways’ brand with internal, domestic and international audiences and raise the profile of the Airways brand to support 
international marketing and local recruitment. 

ACHIEVED

3. HELPING CUSTOMERS SUCCEED 

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Deliver on key Vision 2015 objectives, especially with respect to Performance-Based Navigation. PBN and flow management 
tools (CAM and AMAN) will enable us to ultimately improve Air Traffic Controller productivity by reducing terminal controllers 
workload through increased automation. 

ACHIEVED

Finding long term location specific solutions for cost recovery at those locations where intensive General Aviation (GA) 
activities drive additional costs. 

IN PROGRESS

Working with Airservices Australia towards regional (Australasian) AIM solutions which will enhance services and reduce costs. ACHIEVED

Progress agreed work plan with ASPIRE partners (Airservices Australia and the US Federal Aviation Authority) in particular 
developing a strategy to implement daily ASPIRE flights. 

ACHIEVED

In order to achieve our vision, Airways has six strategic themes with associated objectives and measures.

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE INTENT 
PERFORMANCE TARGETS AND MEASURES
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Safety

Airways Mission is to “work with our 

customers to get aircraft and their 

passengers to their destination safely 

and effi ciently”. This is our primary 

social responsibility and we have 

introduced a number of initiatives to 

help reduce safety incidents. 

Carbon Emissions

Another Airways goal is to help our 

customers reduce their environmental 

footprint. To this end we have a number 

of programmes in place to help airlines 

fl y the most direct routes, minimise 

delays and reduce fuel consumption 

and emissions. 

Aviation Industry Support

Airways plays a critical role in the New 

Zealand economy. Our infrastructure and 

service delivery supports growth in GDP 

via trade and tourism. Whilst we are a 

“behind-the-scenes” player, our aim is to 

deliver 100% service reliability to support 

’NZ Inc‘ and the Airways brand.

The key CSR areas we focussed on in 2010/11 were:

4. GROWING THE BUSINESS

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Secure at least one multi-year, >$1m pa ATC Training sale. ACHIEVED

Complete Flight YieldTM installation in Saudi Arabia and secure a contract for two other sites. PARTIALLY ACHIEVED

5. COMMERCIALLY SUCCESSFUL 

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Continue to pursue initiatives arising from the “new commercial model” discussions with industry, including the 
progressing of the introduction of a rate stabilisation fund and pursuing value based pricing initiatives for projects 
outside of Airways’ technology roadmap. 

IN PROGRESS

Renew Airways’ $55m term funding facility. ACHIEVED

6. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

CSR OBJECTIVE STATUS

Airways’ Corporate and Social Responsibility objectives are to provide a safe air navigation service within NZ’s airspace. ACHIEVED
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FINANCIAL TARGETS AND MEASURES

THE ACTUAL RESULTS AGAINST THE STATEMENT OF CORPORATE INTENT (SCI) TARGETS ARE: 

In terms of conventional (GAAP) accounting over the period are: 

GAAP MEASURE SCI ACTUAL VARIANCE

Group NOPAT(1) $9.2m $4.8m ($4.5m)

Return on average equity 17% 11% (6%)

Shareholder’s Equity $55.2m $44.4m ($10.8m)

Dividends $6m $6m -

In terms of EVA accounting over the period are: 

EVA  MEASURE SCI ACTUAL VARIANCE

Shareholder EVA $1.0m $0.1m ($0.9m)

Shareholder’s Equity $99.0m $98.9m ($0.1m)

SH Equity to Total Capital % 68% 69% 1%

(1) Prior to the impact of "Change to tax depreciation on buildings".
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

REVENUE 

Airways charges 133,150 124,085 129,927 121,224

Other income 19,340 21,161 29,554 28,370 4

Interest income 134 110 134 110

 152,624 145,356 159,615 149,704

EXPENSE 

Depreciation 13,056 13,231 11,743 11,996 12

Amortisation 980 991 520 556 13

Asset impairment 875 - 359 - 12 & 13

Employee remuneration 92,197 89,306 92,197 89,306 5

Employee related costs 2,689 2,088 2,689 2,088

Other operating costs 28,925 27,176 36,919 35,643 6

Rental expense on operating leases 4,693 4,317 5,906 5,531

Interest expense 1,825 1,660 1,812 1,634

Investment impairment - - - 98 27

Share of loss from Joint Venture 189 174 - - 27

 145,429 138,943 152,145 146,852

NET SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION 7,195 6,413 7,470 2,852

Taxation (expense)/credit (2,368) (1,306) (2,392) 1,026 8

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings (120) (6,047) (120) (5,956) 8

TOTAL TAXATION EXPENSE (2,488) (7,353) (2,512) (4,930)

NET SURPLUS/(LOSS) AFTER TAXATION 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS

4,707 (940) 4,958 (2,078)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Movement on foreign exchange cash fl ow hedge reserve 896 801 896 801

Movement on interest rate derivative cash fl ow hedge 
reserve 

(776) (1,207) (776) (1,207)

Deferred tax for current year on other comprehensive 
income 

(40) 122 (40) 122 8

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 80 (284) 80 (284)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR 

4,787 (1,224) 5,038 (2,362)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 

Equity shareholders 4,787 (1,224) 5,038 (2,362)

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME NZIFRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 68 to 100.

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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 GROUP ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITY

HEDGE 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PROFITS

TOTAL NOTES

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2009 41,100 70 10,642 51,812

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(Loss) after taxation - - (940) (940)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION OF 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEDGES TO:

Property, plant & equipment - 102 - 102

Net surplus before taxation  - 249 - 249

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 472 - 472

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (93) - (93)

New interest rate hedges - (970) - (970)

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (166) - (166)

Deferred tax on components of other comprehensive 
income

- 122 - 122 18

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - (284) - (284)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - (284) (940) (1,224)

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends paid (12 cents per share) - - (5,000) (5,000)

TOTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (5,000) (5,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 41,100 (214) 4,702 45,588

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Surplus after taxation  - - 4,707 4,707

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION OF 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEDGES TO: 

Property, plant & equipment - (13) - (13)

Net surplus before taxation  - 985 - 985

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 28 - 28

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (104) - (104)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY NZIFRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 68 to 100.

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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 GROUP ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITY

HEDGE 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PROFITS

TOTAL NOTES

New interest rate hedges - 90 - 90

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (866) - (866)

Deferred Tax on components of other 
comprehensive income

- (40) - (40) 18

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - 80 - 80

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - 80 4,707 4,787

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 

Dividends paid (14.6 cents per share) - - (6,000) (6,000)

TOTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (6,000) (6,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 41,100 (134) 3,409 44,375

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) NZIFRS

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 68 to 100.
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 PARENT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS

CONTRIBUT-
ED EQUITY

HEDGE 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PROFITS

TOTAL NOTES

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2009 41,100 70 8,530 49,700

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(Loss) after taxation - - (2,078) (2,078)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION OF 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEDGES TO: 

Property, plant & equipment - 102 - 102

Net surplus before taxation  - 249 - 249

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 472 - 472

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (93) - (93)

New interest rate hedges - (970) - (970)

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (166) - (166)

Deferred tax on components of other comprehensive 
income

- 122 - 122 18

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - (284) - (284)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - (284) (2,078) (2,362)

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends paid  (12 cents per share) - - (5,000) (5,000)

TOTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (5,000) (5,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 41,100 (214) 1,452 42,338

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Surplus after taxation  - - 4,958 4,958

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION OF 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEDGES TO: 

Property, plant & equipment - (13) - (13)

Net surplus before taxation  - 985 - 985

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 28 - 28

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (104) - (104)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) NZIFRS

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 68 to 100.
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 PARENT
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITY

HEDGE 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PROFITS

TOTAL NOTES

New interest rate hedges - 90 - 90

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (866) - (866)

Deferred Tax on components of other 
comprehensive income

- (40) - (40) 18

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - 80 - 80

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - 80 4,958 5,038

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 

Dividends paid (14.6 cents per share) - - (6,000) (6,000)

TOTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (6,000) (6,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 41,100 (134) 410 41,376

Share Capital - The Parent has capital of $41.1million (2010: $41.1 million) issued and fully paid ordinary shares which confer on the 

holders the right to vote at any general meeting of Shareholders.  This consists of 41,100,000 authorised fully paid ordinary shares.  

Ordinary shares have no par value.

The Cash Flow Hedge Reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash fl ow hedge that is 

determined to be an effective hedge. 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) NZIFRS

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 68 to 100.
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AS AT 30 JUNE   

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

ASSETS   

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,854 5,425 7,853 5,425 9

Trade and other receivables 15,630 21,697 18,813 22,456 11

Prepayments 988 818 988 818

Current tax assets - 1,919 - 3,167 17

Derivative fi nancial instruments 1,625 604 1,625 604 10

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 26,097 30,463 29,279 32,470

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Property, plant and equipment 105,730 106,452 98,387 100,581 12

Intangibles 4,156 4,855 1,605 1,610 13

Investments - 23 100 100 27

Parts inventory 1,227 1,182 1,163 1,140

Other non-current assets 84 84 84 84

Derivative fi nancial instruments 123 102 123 102 10

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 111,320 112,698 101,462 103,617

TOTAL ASSETS 137,417 143,161 130,741 136,087

LIABILITIES     

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables 7,038 6,925 5,144 5,127 14

Employee entitlements 17,358 16,161 17,358 16,161 15

Current tax liability 662 - 215 - 17

Deferred income 1,228 1,228 1,228 1,228 23

Derivative fi nancial instruments 420 176 420 176 10

Loan facility – unsecured - 36,000 - 36,000 16

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 26,706 60,490 24,365 58,692

BALANCE SHEETS NZIFRS

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 68 to 100.
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AS AT 30 JUNE   

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES      

Deferred taxation 9,314 9,581 7,978 7,555 18

Deferred income 18,841 20,069 18,841 20,069 23

Employee entitlements 6,796 6,730 6,796 6,730 15

Derivative fi nancial instruments 1,385 703 1,385 703 10

Loan facility - unsecured   30,000 - 30,000 - 16

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 66,336 37,083 65,000 35,057

TOTAL LIABILITIES 93,042 97,573 89,365 93,749

NET ASSETS 44,375 45,588 41,376 42,338

EQUITY      

Share capital 41,100 41,100 41,100 41,100

Reserves (134) (214) (134) (214)

Retained earnings 3,409 4,702 410 1,452

TOTAL EQUITY 44,375 45,588 41,376 42,338

The Board of Directors of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited authorised these fi nancial statements for issue on 25 August 2011.  

SUSAN PATERSON SUSAN PUTT  

Chairperson Director 

25 August 2011  25 August 2011 

BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED) NZIFRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 68 to 100.

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM: 

Receipts from customers 154,967 141,656 158,738 148,932

Interest received 133 101 133 109

CASH WAS APPLIED TO: 

Payments to suppliers (32,091) (33,100) (38,711) (51,818)

Payments to employees (96,346) (88,264) (93,897) (88,078)

Interest paid (1,661) (1,672) (1,649) (1,647)

Goods and services tax (70) (319) (82) 42

Income tax (paid)/received (41) (546) 297 (546)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 24,891 17,856 24,829 6,994 29

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM: 

Sale of property, plant and equipment 55 141 30 141

CASH WAS APPLIED TO: 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (13,389) (12,373) (10,718) 369

Labour costs capitalised 2,872 1,970 287 90

NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

(10,462) (10,262) (10,401) 600

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES      

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM: 

Drawdown of loan facility - 1,000 - 1,000

CASH WAS APPLIED TO: 

Repayment of loan facility (6,000) - (6,000) -

Payment of dividends (6,000) (5,000) (6,000) (5,000)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

(12,000) (4,000) (12,000) (4,000)

NET INCREASE IN CASH HELD 2,429 3,594 2,428 3,594

Cash at the beginning of the year 5,425 1,831 5,425 1,831

CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR 7,854 5,425 7,853 5,425

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  NZIFRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 68 to 100.

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 1 REPORTING ENTITY

Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand.  The address of its 
registered offi ce is Level 26, Majestic Centre, 100 Willis St, Wellington, New Zealand. Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited is a 
State-Owned Enterprise established under the State-Owned Enterprise Act 1986 with shares held in equal numbers by the Minister for 
State-Owned Enterprises and the Minister of Finance, on behalf of the Crown.

These Group consolidated fi nancial statements are for Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries, 
Airways International Limited (AIL), Airways Training Limited (ATL) and Airways Equipment Limited (AEL).  All companies are registered under 
the Companies Act 1993. 

Airways refers to the “Group”: Airways Corporation of New Zealand, as well as its wholly owned subsidiaries. The term “Parent” refers to 
Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited as a separate legal entity.

Airways is designated as a profi t-oriented entity for fi nancial reporting purposes.

Airways principal business is air navigation services within New Zealand.
In addition to this, Airways is involved in International and Domestic growth activities:
i.  Maintenance of systems
ii.  Consultancy
iii.  Training
iv.  Aviation related publications, and
v.  Software development, sales and implementation.

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

A. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
These fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand.  They comply 
with the New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) and other applicable Financial Reporting 
Standards, as appropriate for profi t oriented entities. The Financial Statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

The fi nancial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Reporting Act 1993, Companies Act 
1993 and the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

These fi nancial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 August 2011.

B. BASIS OF MEASUREMENT
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the fi nancial statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of 
the fi nancial statements prepared for the reporting period ended 30 June 2010. 

The fi nancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as modifi ed by the revaluation of derivative fi nancial instruments.

C. FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
Items included in the fi nancial statements of each of Airways’ entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which it operates (‘the functional currency’), which is New Zealand dollars. The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in New 
Zealand dollars, which is Airways’ presentation currency and all values unless otherwise stated are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
($’000).

D. USE OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The preparation of fi nancial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are evaluated on an on-going basis based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the accounting period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about signifi cant areas of estimation uncertainty, and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the 
most signifi cant effect on the amount recognised in the fi nancial statements, are described in the following notes:

(i) CONTRACT REVENUE
Managers apply contract specifi c judgement in order to determine the amount of revenue to recognise to projects in progress. Managers use 
milestone and stage of completion information in order to calculate the amount of revenue to recognise. Refer to note 3(C) for accounting policy.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NZIFRS
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(ii)  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Airways uses an independent external party to provide specialised market valuations aligned to standard accounting practices.
Refer to notes 3(K) and 20 for accounting policy and treatment.

(iii)  IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Airways tests annually whether intangible assets have suffered any impairment using the guidance under NZ IAS 36.  The carrying values of 
these assets relies on estimate of future cash fl ows using the free cash fl ow to the enterprise methodology and a suitable discount rate and 
terminal growth assumption in order to calculate the present value of those cash fl ows.  Refer to notes 3(N) and 13 for accounting policy and 
treatment.

(iv)  EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
Long service leave and retirement leave are both long term employee benefi ts.  These are measured annually by an external actuary.  They 
use data provided by Airways, the most current prescribed Treasury rates and demographic assumptions based on the experience of the 
Government Superannuation Fund.  Refer to notes 3(R) and 15 for accounting policy and treatment.

(v)  DEFERRED TAX
Management apply judgement to estimate provisions and fi xed asset net book values.  This judgement is based off forecast expectations of 
the business.  Refer to notes 3(D) and 18 for accounting policy and treatment.

(vi)  DEPRECIATION
Depreciation rates used are based on the expected useful life of assets.  As a starting point we use rates as advised by the “Brookers A-Z of 
depreciation rates handbook”.  Annually these rates are reviewed by in-house experts in air traffi c control systems and equipment, who have 
specifi c industry knowledge.  Refer to note 3(M) for accounting policy.

(vii)   IMPAIRMENT OF LAND
Airways uses an independent valuer to provide a current valuation for land that is no longer required and may subsequently be made available 
for sale.  Refer to notes 3(M)(i) and 12 for accounting policy and treatment.

E. STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS THAT HAVE BEEN ADOPTED BY AIRWAYS
Airways has chosen to early adopt Revised IAS 24, 'Related party disclosure’, issued in November 2009 which supersedes IAS 24, ‘Related 
party disclosures’, issued in 2003. This standard removes the requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions 
with government and other government-related entities; and clarifi es and simplifi es the defi nition of related party. This has had minimal impact 
to Airways.

F. STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS TO EXISTING STANDARDS THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE AND HAVE 

NOT BEEN EARLY ADOPTED BY AIRWAYS
The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2011 or later periods, but Airways has not early adopted them: 

(i) NZ IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’ (Amended), issued in November 2010 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2011, with early adoption allowed). The amendment requires additional disclosure in respect of risk exposures arising from transferred fi nancial 
assets.  Airways will adopt the amendment to NZ IFRS 7 from 1 July 2011. It is not expected to have a material impact on Airways’ fi nancial 
statements.

(ii) NZ IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, issued in December 2009 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, with early 
adoption allowed). NZ IFRS 9 replaces the multiple classifi cation and measurement models in NZ IAS 39 with a single model that has only 
two classifi cation categories:  amortised cost and fair value.  Classifi cation under NZ IFRS 9 will be driven by an entity’s business model for 
managing the fi nancial assets and the contractual characteristics of the fi nancial assets.  The Group has not determined when it will adopt NZ 
IFRS 9. It is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s fi nancial statements.

There will be no impact on Airways’ accounting for fi nancial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect the accounting for fi nancial liabilities 
that are designated as at fair value through profi t or loss and Airways does not have any such liabilities.  The de-recognition rules have been 
transferred from NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and have not been changed.  Airways have not determined 
when it will adopt NZ IFRS 9.  It is not expected to have a material impact on Airways’ fi nancial statements.

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NZIFRS
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NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(i) SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which Airways has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies 
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether Airways controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to Airways. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by Airways. The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments used and liability incurred or assumed at the exchange rate, acquisition related 
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifi able assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the fair value of Airways’ share of the identifi able net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is 
less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly on the statement of comprehensive 
income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Airways companies are eliminated.  Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with the 
policies adopted by Airways and all subsidiaries share a 30 June balance date.  The parent recognises its investment in subsidiaries at cost, 
less impairment.

(ii) JOINT VENTURES
Airways’ interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method of consolidation. Airways’ share of its joint venture 
post-acquisition profi ts or losses is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in 
reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying value of the investment. 
When Airways share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint venture, including any unsecured receivables, 
Airways does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

B. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities held in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate at balance date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except when 
deferred in equity as qualifying cash fl ow hedges.

C. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of goods and services, excluding Goods and Services Tax, rebates and discounts and after 
eliminating sales within Airways. Revenue is recognised as follows:

(i) Sales of products
Airways follows the principles of IAS18, “Revenue recognition”, in determining appropriate revenue policies. In principle, therefore, revenue 
associated with Sale of Products is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfi ed:

- The Airways has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of the products;
- Airways does not retain either continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership or effective control 

over the products sold;
- The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
- It is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction will fl ow to Airways; and 
- The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably.

(ii) Air service charges and other services
Revenue associated with the rendering of services is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfi ed:

- The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
- It is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction will fl ow to Airways;
- The stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and 
- The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably. 

(iii) Interest Income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NZIFRS
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D. CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date of the 
countries where Airways’ subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.  Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation, and establishes provisions 
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated fi nancial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it 
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled.  Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi t will 
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by Airways and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

E. LEASES

Airways leases certain land, buildings, plant and equipment.

Operating lease payments, where the lessors effectively retain the risks and benefi ts of ownership of the leased items, are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the lease term.

F. IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifi able cash fl ows (cash generating units).

G. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held on call with fi nancial institutions, other short term, highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignifi cant 
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

H. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off.  A provision 
for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that Airways will not be able to collect all amounts due according to 
the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is dependent on the age of the debt and specifi c debtor circumstances. For 
the Growth business debt which is greater than 90 days old but less than one year is discounted at the average cost of capital. Debt which 
is greater than one year old but less than 2 years old is discounted by 50% of the carrying value. Debt which is greater than 2 years old is 
discounted by 100% of the carrying value. The amount of the provision is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

I. PARTS INVENTORY

Parts inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost basis. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price less applicable variable selling expenses.

J. INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Airways classifi es its fi nancial assets in the following categories: fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss and loans and receivables.  
The classifi cation depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classifi cation of its 
investments at the initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date. 

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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(i) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
This category has two sub categories: fi nancial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profi t or loss at inception.  
A fi nancial asset is classifi ed in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by 
management. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated hedges.  Assets in this category are classifi ed 
as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date. Airways has no 
fi nancial assets designated at fair value through profi t or loss at balance date.

(ii) LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They 
arise when Airways provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the receivable.  They are included 
in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are classifi ed as non-current 
assets. Loans and receivables are included in ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the balance sheet.

(iii) AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSESTS
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classifi ed in any of the other categories.  
They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12 months at the end of 
the reporting period.  Airways has no available-for-sale fi nancial assets at balance date. 

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date - the date on which Airways commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all fi nancial assets not carried at fair value through profi t or loss.  
Financial assets carried at fair value through profi t or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash fl ows from the investments have 
expired or have been transferred and Airways has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and receivables are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Airways assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a fi nancial asset or group of fi nancial assets is 
impaired. Refer Note 3(H) and 11.

K. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Airways uses Forward Exchange Contracts to hedge expenditure and revenue denominated in foreign currency.  Airways also uses Interest 
Rate Swaps and Caps to hedge interest repayments on its term debt.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-valued to their fair 
value.  The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on the nature of the relationship between the derivative and the item 
being hedged. Airways designates derivatives as hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash fl ow hedges).

At the inception of the transaction, Airways documents the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items as well as its risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Airways also documents an assessment, both at hedge 
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly 
effective in offsetting changes in cash fl ows of hedged items.

(i) CASH FLOW HEDGE
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that qualify as cash fl ow hedges is recognised in equity in the hedging reserve. 
Amounts accumulated in equity are transferred to the statement of comprehensive income when the hedged item affects profi t and loss (for 
example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). Offsetting this, when the forecast transaction that is hedged occurs, the gains 
or losses previously deferred in equity are also transferred to the statement of comprehensive income. For forecast items that are fully hedged 
and 100% effective, the net effect on the statement of comprehensive income is neutral (i.e. nil).

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship but 
the hedged forecast transaction still is expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in 
accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, then the 
cumulative unrealised effect recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

L. FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter derivatives) is determined using valuation 
techniques.  Airways uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions 
existing at the end of each reporting period. 

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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M. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(i) RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
All classes of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Cost is determined by including all costs directly associated with 
bringing the assets to their location in working condition. The value of property, plant and equipment includes fi nancing costs. Capital work 
in progress includes all expenditure to date on all assets partially completed. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to 
Airways and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced parts is written off. Repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the fi nancial period in which they are incurred. Assets no longer required and 
ultimately intended for sale or disposal are valued at the lower of cost or estimated realisable value. Changes in this value are included in 
the statement of comprehensive income. Gains or losses on the disposal of fi xed assets are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income and are calculated as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset. If the recoverable amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is less than its carrying amount, the item is written down to its recoverable amount. The write down of 
an asset recorded at historical cost is recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

(ii) DEPRECIATION
The cost of all fi xed assets (excluding freehold land) less their estimated residual value is written off on a straight line basis over the estimated 
useful economic life of all property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and capital work in progress. Estimated useful lives are 
reviewed annually to consider factors that may affect economic life including, but not limited to:

1.  Deterioration through use
2.  The effects of the physical environment
3.  Obsolescence through technological development
4.  Lease terms or other contractual arrangements.

The estimated useful economic lives are as follows: 

DEPRECIATED RANGE ACTUAL WEIGHTED AVERAGE

Land not depreciated not depreciated

Buildings structure: 

Freehold 10 – 40 years 25 years

Leasehold 8 – 40 years 21 years

Computers and furniture 3 – 20 years 8 years 

Plant and equipment 3 – 25 years 13 years

Motor vehicles 4 – 10 years 5 years

Intangibles 2 – 10 years 8 years

Capital work in progress not depreciated not depreciated

N. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(i) COMPUTER SOFTWARE
Acquired computer software costs are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specifi c software. These 
costs are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives (three to fi ve years).

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense except where the costs are 
directly associated with the development of identifi able and unique software products controlled by Airways, which are expected to generate 
economic benefi ts exceeding costs beyond one year. These are then recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the costs of 
software development employees and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 

Internally generated software assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives (not exceeding ten years).

(ii) LICENCES
Separately acquired licenses are capitalised at historical cost. Licences have a fi nite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives.

O. TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Airways prior to the end of the fi nancial year that are unpaid. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. These are measured at amortised cost.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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P. BORROWINGS

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any 
differences between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowings are classifi ed as current liabilities unless Airways has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the balance date.

Q. PROVISIONS

Provisions for legal claims, service warrantees and rental obligations are recognised when Airways has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outfl ow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the 
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outfl ow will be required to settle is determined by considering the 
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outfl ow with respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation, using a pre-tax rate that 
refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money, and the risks specifi c to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

R. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

A liability for annual leave, long service leave and retiring leave is accrued and recognised in the balance sheet. The liability is equal to the 
present value of the estimated future outfl ows as a result of employee services provided at balance date. Where it is necessary, actuarial 
estimates of future demographic trends and employee remuneration are used to calculate these liabilities.

Airways operates various defi ned contribution schemes. The schemes are funded through payments to trustee administered funds.  A 
defi ned contribution plan is a superannuation plan under which Airways pays fi xed contributions into a separate entity (either Kiwisaver or 
otherwise). Airways has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold suffi cient assets to pay all 
employees the benefi ts relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

For defi ned contribution plans, Airways pays contributions to publicly or privately administered superannuation plans on a mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. Airways has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are 
recognised as an employee benefi t expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash 
refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefi ts are payable when employment is terminated by Airways before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee 
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefi ts.  Airways recognises termination benefi ts when it is demonstrably committed 
to either: 

(i) terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; 
(ii) or providing termination benefi ts as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.  

Benefi ts falling due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to their present value.

S. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares issued by Airways are classifi ed as equity and are recognised at fair value less direct issue costs.

T. DIVIDENDS

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before balance date but not distributed at balance date.

U. GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)

The statement of comprehensive income and the cash fl ow statement have been prepared so that all components are stated net of GST. All 
items in the balance sheet are stated net of GST, with the exception of receivables and payables, which include GST invoiced.

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NZIFRS



|  75    airways annual report 2010-2011

NOTE 4 OTHER INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

Consulting and product revenue 13,228 15,103 10 65

Amortisation of deferred income 1,228 1,228 1,228 1,228 23

Management fee received - - 22,386 21,106 26

Other 4,884 4,830 5,930 5,971

19,340 21,161 29,554 28,370

NOTE 5 EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

Wages and salaries, including Group and Parent 
termination benefi ts $858k (2010: $540k) 

83,780 79,583 83,780 79,583

Kiwisaver/superannuation contributions 7,154 6,836 7,154 6,836

Leave entitlements expense 1,263 2,887 1,263 2,887

92,197 89,306 92,197 89,306

NOTE 6 OPERATING COSTS   

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

Net surplus before taxation includes the following 
specifi c expenses:

Auditor remuneration 151 164 143 156 7

Bad debts written off 123 32 157 97

Directors’ fees (including expenses) 311 280 311 280

(Surplus)/defi cit on disposal of assets (22) (12) 3 (17)

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (3) 37 (6) 37

Intercharges and contract delivery costs 9,763 8,411 26,822 25,674

Maintenance 3,246 3,142 474 404

NOTE 7 AUDITORS REMUNERATION  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

PricewaterhouseCoopers for:

Financial statement audit services as an agent of the 
Offi ce of the Auditor-General 

139 124 131 116

GST return services 7 20 7 20

Cross border lease taxation advice 5 20 5 20

151 164 143 156 6

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 8 INCOME TAX EXPENSE   

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

(A) RECONCILIATION OF INCOME TAX 
EXPENSE TO PRIMA FACIE TAX PAYABLE   

Surplus before taxation 7,195 6,413 7,470 2,852

Tax at the New Zealand tax rate of 30% 2,158 1,924 2,241 856

Tax effect of amounts which are either non-
deductible or taxable in calculating taxable income: 

Expenses not deductible for tax 191 56 168 53

Under/(Over) provision in prior periods - 11 - 13

Other 1 - (13) -

Write-off of deferred tax on asset disposals - - 29 (1,407)

Effect of change in tax rate 18 (685) (33) (541)

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings 120 6,047 120 5,956

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 2,488 7,353 2,512 4,930

In the prior year, as a result of the change in the NZ corporate tax rate from 30% to 28% that was enacted on 27 May 2010 with effect from 
1 July 2011, the relevant deferred tax balances were remeasured. Deferred tax expected to reverse in the year to 30 June 2012 or later was 
measured using the effective rate that will apply for the period (28%).

Buildings are currently depreciated for tax purposes. As a result of the change in tax legislation that was enacted on 27 May 2010, with effect 
from 1 July 2011 being the beginning of the 2012 income year, the tax depreciation rate on buildings with an estimated useful life of 50 years 
or more was reduced to 0%. This reduction in the tax depreciation rate has significantly reduced the tax base of the Group's buildings as 
future tax deductions are no longer available from the 2011/12 income year.  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

(B) INCOME TAX EXPENSE    

Tax payable in respect of the current year  2,761 1,250 2,146 363 17

Tax payable/(receivable) in respect of previous years 33 (16) (18) (36) 17

Deferred tax in respect of current year (413) 730 263 546 18

Deferred tax in respect of previous year (32) 28 18 49 18

Other 1 (1) (13) -

Write-off of deferred tax on asset disposals - - 29 (1,407)

Effect of change in tax rate 18 (685) (33) (541)

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings 120 6,047 120 5,956 18

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 2,488 7,353 2,512 4,930

(C) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME     

Aggregate deferred tax arising in the period 
recognised in other comprehensive income but 
directly debited or credited to equity   

40 (122) 40 (122) 18

The Group and Parent have no tax losses (2010: Nil) 
and no unrecognised temporary differences (2010: 
Nil) 

(D) IMPUTATION CREDITS      

Balance as at 1 July 3,202 3,085 3,202 3,085

Taxation paid 36 546 36 546 17

Less attributed dividends (2,571) (429) (2,571) (429)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 667 3,202 667 3,202

At 30 June 2011 Airways had imputation credits available to shareholders of $0.67 million (2010: $3.20 million). 

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

Cash and cash equivalents earned average interest of 2.85 percent (2010: 2.52 percent).  Foreign currency deposits with a term of less than 
one year earned average interest at a rate of 2.57 percent (2010: 1.47 percent). 

CREDIT RISK 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks as well as credit exposures to 
customers from outstanding receivables.  For banks, only parties with a minimum long term Standard and Poors rating of A+ or A1 are 
accepted.  

Credit risk exists within financial transactions at both counterparty and sovereign level.  The settlement of transactions requires the 
counterparty to be capable of meeting its financial obligations and the sovereign government allowing the transaction to occur.  Sovereign risk 
is generally associated with the settlement of transactions with an offshore entity.  

NOTE 10 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated) 

AS AT 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

CURRENT ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts 1,625 604 1,625 604

1,625 604 1,625 604

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives (160) (8) (160) (8)

Foreign currency exchange contracts (260) (168) (260) (168)

(420) (176) (420) (176)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Interest rate derivatives 5 69 5 69

Foreign currency exchange contracts 118 33 118 33

123 102 123 102

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives (1,261) (703) (1,261) (703)

Foreign currency exchange contracts (124) - (124) -

(1,385) (703) (1,385) (703)

TOTAL DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Interest rate derivatives (1,416) (642) (1,416) (642)

Foreign currency exchange contracts 1,359 469 1,359 469

(57) (173) (57) (173)
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NOTE 11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES     

AS AT 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

Trade accounts receivable  15,075 17,978 10,887 11,499

Other receivables  555 3,719 7,926 10,957

TOTAL 15,630 21,697 18,813 22,456

Amounts receivable from related parties are disclosed in note 26. 

CREDIT RISK 
Airways five largest customers account for 85.66% (2010: 85.94%) of total Airways charges revenue and accounts receivable at balance date.  
No collateral is held over receivables that are mainly due from airline companies.  No unusual risk has been identified by Airways in relation to 
these companies. 

Airways overdue not impaired balances at 30 June 2011 totalled $1.96 million (2010: $4.90 million).  Parent overdue not impaired balances at 
30 June 2011 totalled $0.16 million (2010: $1.01 million).  Overdue balances are payments not received on the due date, which under usual 
terms are due within 20 days of the month following invoice date.  

The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

AS AT 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

Overdue 1 - 30 days 424 1,499 10 849

Overdue 31 – 60 days 237 155 9 57

Overdue 61 – 90 days 375 1,636 10 11

Overdue  90 days + 923 1,606 126 89

TOTAL 1,959 4,896 155 1,006

At 30 June 2011, Group receivables of $152,386 (2010: $45,951) and Parent $nil (2010: $nil) were impaired and provided for. The aging 
analysis of these receivables is as follows:

AS AT 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

Overdue 1 - 30 days - - - -

Overdue 31 – 60 days - - - -

Overdue 61 – 90 days - - - -

Overdue  90 days + 152 46 - -

TOTAL 152 46 - -

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT                         

    

 GROUP

 LAND 

FREEHOLD

 LAND

LEASEHOLD

 BUILDINGS

FREEHOLD

BUILDINGS 

LEASEHOLD

 PLANT & 

EQUIPMENT

 COMPUTERS 

& FURNITURE

 MOTOR 

VEHICLES

WORK IN

PROGRESS

TOTAL

COST

As at 1 July 2009 6,813 12 11,078 11,596 168,306 34,057 1,599 18,799 252,260

Additions at cost - - 5,468 42 6,414 3,551 - 10,315 25,790

Deduct disposals (115) - (22) (16) (2,732) (74) - (17,689) (20,648)

AS AT 
30 JUNE 2010

6,698 12 16,524 11,622 171,988 37,534 1,599 11,425 257,402

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION 

As at 1 July 2009 - - 7,204 10,503 99,000 22,722 1,120 - 140,549

Charge for 
period

- - 248 304 9,115 3,402 162 - 13,231

Deduct disposals - - (22) (16) (2,722) (70) - - (2,830)

AS AT 
30 JUNE 2010

- - 7,430 10,791 105,393 26,054 1,282 - 150,950

NET BOOK 
VALUE AS AT 
30 JUNE 2010

6,698 12 9,094 831 66,595 11,480 317 11,425 106,452

COST

As at 1 July 2010 6,698 12 16,524 11,622 171,988 37,534 1,599 11,425 257,402

Additions at cost - - (97) 30 10,899 3,576 214 13,519 28,141

Deduct disposals - - (41) (15) (5,878) (142) (156) (15,417) (21,649)

Deduct 
impairments

(359) - - - - - - - (359)

AS AT 
30 JUNE 2011

6,339 12 16,386 11,637 177,009 40,968 1,657 9,527 263,535

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 July 2010 - - 7,430 10,791 105,393 26,054 1,282 - 150,950

Charge for 
period

- - 389 97 8,648 3,736 186 - 13,056

Deduct disposals - - (41) (17) (5,846) (141) (156) - (6,201)

AS AT 
30 JUNE 2011

- - 7,778 10,871 108,195 29,649 1,312 - 157,805

NET BOOK 
VALUE AS AT 
30 JUNE 2011

6,339 12 8,608 766 68,814 11,319 345 9,527 105,730

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)                         

    

 PARENT

 LAND 

FREEHOLD

 LAND

LEASEHOLD

 BUILDINGS

FREEHOLD

BUILDINGS 

LEASEHOLD

 PLANT & 

EQUIPMENT

 COMPUTERS 

& FURNITURE

 MOTOR 

VEHICLES

WORK IN

PROGRESS

TOTAL

COST

As at 1 July 2009 6,813 12 11,078 11,596 168,306 34,057 1,599 18,799 252,260

Additions at cost - - 5,468 42 6,228 2,425 - 6,236 20,399

Deduct disposals (115) - (395) (38) (8,259) (6,985) (1,403) (14,566) (31,761)

AS AT 
30 JUNE 2010

6,698 12 16,151 11,600 166,275 29,497 196 10,469 240,898

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION 

As at 1 July 2009 - - 7,204 10,503 99,000 22,722 1,120 - 140,549

Charge for period - - 224 303 8,794 2,664 11 - 11,996

Deduct disposals - - (107) (27) (6,696) (4,462) (936) - (12,228)

AS AT 
30 JUNE 2010 - - 7,321 10,779 101,098 20,924 195 - 140,317

NET BOOK 
VALUE AS AT 
30 JUNE 2010

6,698 12 8,830 821 65,177 8,574 1 10,469 100,581

COST

As at 1 July 2010 6,698 12 16,151 11,600 166,275 29,497 196 10,469 240,898

Additions at cost - - (97) 29 9,773 3,264 40 11,232 24,241

Deduct disposals - - (41) (15) (5,134) (129) - (14,304) (19,623)

Deduct 
impairments

(359) - - - - - - - (359)

AS AT 
30 JUNE 2011

6,339 12 16,013 11,614 170,914 32,632 236 7,397 245,157

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 July 2010 - - 7,321 10,779 101,098 20,924 195 - 140,317

Charge for period - - 381 96 8,323 2,929 14 - 11,743

Deduct disposals - - 109 (165) (5,102) (132) - - (5,290)

AS AT 
30 JUNE 2011

- - 7,811 10,710 104,319 23,721 209 - 146,770

NET BOOK 
VALUE AS AT 
30 JUNE 2011

6,339 12 8,202 904 66,595 8,911 27 7,397 98,387

Additions and disposals includes transfers between work in progress and asset classes and assets written off.  There are no assets intended 
for sale in Property, Plant and Equipment. Certain assets within the Plant and Equipment are subject to a cross border lease arrangement.  
The arrangement does not impose any restrictions on these assets which would affect the ability to use them in day-to-day operations. 

In the Group and parent, one property has become surplus to requirements. Under s40 of the Public Works Act 1981, Airways is required 
to offer back the land to its original owner or the successors of the formal owner. A valuation was undertaken by an independent registered 
valuer to determine the recoverable amount based on the fair value less costs to sell.  The fair value less costs to sell has been calculated 
based on the land’s zoning by its district council, location, current commercial market and recent sales of similar type properties in the district.  
Management have determined that if there was a 10% decline in the district’s property market  then a further $486,000 impairment would 
need to be booked should management decide to make the property available-for-sale. The current valuation resulted in the piece of land 
being impaired by $359,000.  

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS                           

GROUP

 INTERNALLY 
GENERATED 
SOFTWARE

 LICENCES 
& ACQUIRED 

SOFTWARE

TOTAL

COST

As at 1 July 2009 2,977 2,571 5,548

Additions at cost 1,455 735 2,190

Deduct disposals - (137) (137)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 4,432 3,169 7,601

ACCUMMULATED AMORTISATION 

As at 1 July 2009 909 1,006 1,915

Charge for period 528 463 991

Deduct disposals - (160) (160)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 1,437 1,309 2,746

NET BOOK VALUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 2,995 1,860 4,855

COST

As at 1 July 2010 4,432 3,169 7,601

Additions at cost 743 54 797

Deduct disposals - - -

Deduct impairments (516) - (516)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 4,659 3,223 7,882

ACCUMMULATED AMORTISATION 

As at 1 July 2010 1,437 1,309 2,746

Charge for period 520 460 980

Deduct disposals - - -

AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 1,957 1,769 3,726

NET BOOK VALUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 2,702 1,454 4,156

An assessment of an item of Software in the Systems business indicated an impairment of the asset was necessary due to a challenging 
international sales environment.  The impairment has been calculated at $516,000.  

The recoverable amount of the asset was determined using a Free Cash Flow to the Enterprise (FCFE) methodology.  The recoverable amount 
is the asset’s value-in-use.  Cash flows were calculated over five years with a terminal growth rate of 1%.  A discount rate of 30% was used 
for discounting cash flows.

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)                         

PARENT

 INTERNALLY 
GENERATED 
SOFTWARE

 LICENCES 
& ACQUIRED 

SOFTWARE

TOTAL

COST

As at 1 July 2009 2,977 2,571 5,548

Additions at cost 120 209 329

Deduct disposals (2,054) (576) (2,630)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 1,043 2,204 3,247

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

As at 1 July 2009 909 1,006 1,915

Charge for period 158 398 556

Deduct disposals (611) (223) (834)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 456 1,181 1,637

NET BOOK VALUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 587 1,023 1,610

COST

As at 1 July 2010 1,043 2,204 3,247

Additions at cost 487 28 515

Deduct disposals - - -

AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 1,530 2,232 3,762

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

As at 1 July 2010 456 1,181 1,637

Charge for period 171 349 520

Deduct disposals - - -

AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 627 1,530 2,157

NET BOOK VALUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 903 702 1,605

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 14 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    

AS AT 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

Trade accounts payable  1,844 1,835 1,664 1,385

Interest payable  170 130 170 130

Payroll related payables 1,868 1,450 1,868 1,450

Other accrued liabilities 3,086 3,083 1,370 1,535

Miscellaneous payables 70 427 72 627

TOTAL 7,038 6,925 5,144 5,127

Amounts due to related parties are disclosed in note 26.

NOTE 15 EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS    

AS AT 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

Balance Sheet obligations for:

Long service leave  1,242 1,159 1,242 1,159

Retiring leave 6,043 5,571 6,043 5,571

7,285 6,730 7,285 6,730

Statement of Comprehensive Income charge for:

Long service leave  82 118 82 118

Retiring leave 472 1,097 472 1,097

554 1,215 554 1,215

(a)   Long service leave

Airways grants employees long service leave entitlements based on remuneration and length of service.  The specific entitlements are 
dependent on individual employment contracts.

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining Airways’ liability for long service leave entitlements are as follows:

AS AT 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

Discount rate 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%

Infl ation rate  2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Future salary increases 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75%

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 15 EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS (CONTINUED)     

(b)   Retiring leave

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining Airways’ liability for retiring leave are as follows:

AS AT 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

Discount rate 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%

Infl ation rate  2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Future salary increases 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75%

(c)   Sensitivity analysis. 

The sensitivity of the overall liability for employee entitlements to changes in principal assumptions is: 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2011    
 CHANGE IN ASSUMPTION

 INCREASE/(DECREASE) 
IN OVERALL LIABLIITY

Future salary increase to 1.75% (409)

Future salary increase to 3.75% 454

Resignation rates 50% of assumed (10)

Resignation rates 150% of assumed 9

NOTE 16 BORROWINGS      

Airways has two bank funding facilities.  The first is a three year term loan and stand-by facility that allows Airways to borrow up to $55 
million.  This facility expires in January 2014 therefore classified as a Non-Current Liability (2010: Loan facility expired January 2011, therefore 
classified as a Current Liability). In addition the facility includes a committed money market loan of $5 million which expires in November 2011, 
this facility may be extended to January 2014 at the banks discretion.

At present Airways has drawn $30 million (2010: $36 million) of this funding line.  The average effective interest rate of the facility was 4.41 
percent (2010: 3.84 percent) for the year.  The second is a short term uncommitted facility that allows Airways to borrow up to $5 million. 

(i)   Liquidity Risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities.  

Short term liquidity management involves the preparation, monitoring and re-forecasting of cash flows, efficient management of bank 
accounts and money market activity, and the guaranteed availability of unutilised credit facilities.  Long term liquidity risk is managed through 
Airways long term capital adequacy planning process.  Management monitors rolling ten year forecasts ensuring our committed credit lines 
have the provision to accommodate 10% surplus funding over and above our projected maximum level of debt, as defined in the ten year 
capital forecast.  

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 17 CURRENT TAX (PAYABLE)/RECEIVABLE

    

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

MOVEMENTS   

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 1,919 2,609 3,167 2,613

Tax (payable)/receivable in respect of the current year (2,761) (1,250) (2,146) (363) 8

Tax receivable in respect of the previous years (33) 16 18 36 8

Tax paid during the year 213 546 36 546 8

Tax losses (to)/from entities within the Group - (2) (1,290) 335

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE (662) 1,919 (215) 3,167

NOTE 18 DEFERRED TAXATION

    

 GROUP

DEPRECIATION PROVISIONS OTHER TOTAL NOTES

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2009 (8,031) 4,713 (265) (3,583)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years - (53) 25 (28)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus (1,347) 662 (45) (730)

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings 
charged to net surplus (6,047) - - (6,047) 8

Deferred tax on items charged to other 
comprehensive income - - 122 122

Effect of change to income tax rate charged to 
net surplus 1,028 (355) 12 685

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 (14,397) 4,967 (151) (9,581)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years (15) 47 - 32

Deferred tax charged to net surplus (327) 719 21 413

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings 
charged to net surplus (120) - - (120) 8

Deferred tax on items charged to other 
comprehensive income - - (40) (40)

Effect of change to income tax rate charged to 
net surplus 31 (48) (1) (18) 

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 (14,828) 5,685 (171) (9,314) 

The amount of the deferred tax balance expected to be utilised within one year is $173,758 (2010: $606,400). 

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 18 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

    

 PARENT

DEPRECIATION PROVISIONS OTHER TOTAL NOTES

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2009 (8,031) 4,957 - (3,074)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years - (53) 4 (49)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus 178 724 (42) 860

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings 
charged to net surplus

(5,956) - - (5,956) 8

Deferred tax on items charged other comprehensive 
income

- - 122 122

Effect of change to income tax rate charged to net 
surplus

921 (375) (4) 542

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 (12,888) 5,253 80 (7,555)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years (14) (4) - (18)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus (529) 215 36 (278)

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings 
charged to net surplus

(120) - - (120) 8

Deferred tax on items charged other comprehensive 
income

- - (40) (40)

Effect of change to income tax rate charged to net 
surplus

44 (14) 3 33

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 (13,507) 5,450 79 (7,978)

The amount of the deferred tax balance expected to be utilised within one year is $41,126 (2010: $402,610). 

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

AS AT 30 JUNE  
LOANS & 

RECEIVABLES

DERIVATIVES 
USED FOR 
HEDGING

LIABILITIES AT 
AMORTISED 

COST
TOTAL

GROUP 2010

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 - - 5,425

Trade and other receivables 21,696 - - 21,696

Derivative fi nancial instruments - 706 - 706

TOTAL 27,121 706 - 27,827

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 36,000 36,000

Trade and other payables - - 5,475 5,475

Derivative fi nancial instruments - 879 - 879

TOTAL - 879 41,475 42,354

AS AT 30 JUNE  
LOANS & 

RECEIVABLES

DERIVATIVES 
USED FOR 
HEDGING

LIABILITIES AT 
AMORTISED 

COST
TOTAL

GROUP 2011

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,854 - - 7,854

Trade and other receivables 15,630 - - 15,630

Derivative fi nancial instruments - 1,748 - 1,748

TOTAL 23,484 1,748 - 25,232

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 30,000 30,000

Trade and other payables - - 5,169 5,169

Derivative fi nancial instruments - 1,805 - 1,805

TOTAL - 1,805 35,169 36,974

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED) 

AS AT 30 JUNE  

LOANS & 
RECEIVABLES

DERIVATIVES 
USED FOR 
HEDGING

LIABILITIES AT 
AMORTISED 

COST
TOTAL

PARENT 2010

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 - - 5,425

Trade and other receivables 22,456 - - 22,456

Derivative fi nancial instruments - 706 - 706

TOTAL 27,881 706 - 28,587

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 36,000 36,000

Trade and other payables - - 3,677 3,677

Derivative fi nancial instruments - 879 - 879

TOTAL - 879 39,677 40,556

AS AT 30 JUNE  

LOANS & 
RECEIVABLES

DERIVATIVES 
USED FOR 
HEDGING

LIABILITIES AT 
AMORTISED 

COST
TOTAL

PARENT 2011

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,853 - - 7,853

Trade and other receivables 18,813 - - 18,813

Derivative fi nancial instruments - 1,748 - 1,748

TOTAL 26,666 1,748 - 28,414

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 30,000 30,000

Trade and other payables - - 3,276 3,276

Derivative fi nancial instruments - 1,805 - 1,805

TOTAL - 1,805 33,276 35,081

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

MARKET RISK  

Risk Management is undertaken by management who manage certain financial risks, including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk 
under a Treasury Policy that is approved by the Board of Directors.  

(i)    Capital Risk Management
Airways objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders, 
benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an appropriate capital structure. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, Airways 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to Shareholders, return capital to Shareholders, increase or reduce debt, sell assets, or reduce 
capital expenditure. The borrowing note (note 16) within this report includes further information. 

(ii)   Currency Risk 
Airways is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of revenue contracts, capital expenditure and operational expenditure denominated in 
foreign currencies.  The currencies in which Airways primarily deals are US Dollar, Euro, Pounds Sterling, Australian Dollar, Omani Rial, Kuwaiti 
Dinar and the Japanese Yen.  The Treasury Policy requires that foreign currency exposures greater than NZD 20,000 are hedged.  Foreign 
exchange instruments approved under the policy are forward exchange contracts and currency options.   The Treasury Policy also allows 
small foreign currency bank balances to be held to hedge lower value foreign currency transactions of less than NZD 20,000.  

As at 30 June 2011, Airways has entered into forward exchange contracts to sell the equivalent of $NZ10.64 million (2010: $NZ15.92 million) 
and to buy the equivalent of $NZ5.09 million (2010: $NZ3.99 million). 

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated) 

AS AT 30 JUNE

FEC BUYS FEC SELLS

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

FOREIGN CURRENCY 

AUD - 1,445 393 874

EUR 1,968 378 - -

GBP 22 - - -

JPY - - 77 294

SGD - - - 213

USD 3,097 2,169 10,167 14,543

TOTAL 5,087 3,992 10,637 15,924

These contracts are hedging committed or highly probable forecast contracted revenue streams, capital expenditure and operational 
expenditure.  The contracts are timed to mature when the transaction is scheduled to be settled.  Where forward contracts have been 
designated and tested as an effective hedge, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective 
hedge is recognised directly in equity.  When the contracts are settled, these gains or losses are recorded against the underlying revenue 
stream, capital expenditure item, or operational expenditure.  

Where forward contracts are not designated and therefore not tested as an effective hedge, the gain or loss on the forward contract is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as a foreign exchange gain or loss.  At balance date, there were no contracts that had 
not been designated as effective hedges (2010: Nil). The maturity table in note 20 (iv) provides foreign currency hedge contracts. 

(iii)   Interest Rate Risk 
Airways interest rate risk arises from short and long term borrowings typically incurred to finance major capital projects.  Borrowings are at 
variable rates, exposing Airways to interest rate risk.  The objective of Airways interest rate risk management policy is to ensure that Airways 
profitability is not exposed to material fluctuations in interest rates.  Airways monitors interest rates on an on-going basis and uses swaps and 
caps, forward rate agreements and interest rate options to reduce Airways’ exposure to adverse movements in interest rates.  The Treasury 
Policy requires Airways to hedge its interest rate risk applying the principles of mean reversion (a concept that suggests that interest rates will 
tend back to the mean or average over time), within the following control limits: 
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NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

INTEREST RATES HEDGE LIMITS MAXIMUM TERM

>9.90% Up to 90% of Forecast Debt using interest rate caps/options 3 years

Between 7.0 and 9.9%
Up to 25% of Forecast Debt using interest rate swaps and up to 65% using interest 
rate caps/options

5 years 

Between 6.0 and 7.0%
Between 25% and 50% of Forecast Debt using interest rate swaps, and up to 25% 
using interest rate caps/options 

7 years 

<6.0% Up to 90% of Forecast Debt using interest rate swaps 10 years

The following maximum hedge limits apply to the coverage levels above: 
1 – 3 years: 90% of forecast debt
3 – 5 years: The greater of 75% of forecast debt and core debt
6 – 10 years: core debt

As at 30 June 2011, Airways had $30 million of interest rate swaps (2010: $15 million) and $5 million of interest rate caps (2010: $10 million).  

(iv)   Liquidity Risk 
Refer to note 16 for discussion on liquidity risk.  Further analysis for liquidity risk is provided in the maturity table below.  

MATURITY TABLE 

The table below analyses Airways financial asset and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance 
date to the maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated) 

AS AT 30 JUNE
LESS THAN 

6 MTHS

BETWEEN        
6 MTHS 

& 1 YEAR

BETWEEN      
1 & 2 YEARS 

BETWEEN  2 
& 5 YEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
YEARS

GROUP 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 - - - -

Trade and other receivables 21,697 - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – infl ow - - - - 207

Interest rate derivatives – outfl ow (86) (126) (323) (277) -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – infl ow* 10,494 5,333 96 - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outfl ow* (3,005) (274) (713) - -

Trade and other payables (5,475) - - - -

Term loan (552) (36,092) - - -

Financial guarantee contracts (1,889) - - - -

TOTAL 26,609 (31,159) (940) (277) 207
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NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

AS AT 30 JUNE
LESS THAN 

6 MTHS

BETWEEN        
6 MTHS 

& 1 YEAR

BETWEEN      
1 & 2 YEARS 

BETWEEN    
2 & 5 YEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
YEARS

GROUP 2011 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,854 - - - -

Trade and other receivables 15,630 - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – infl ow - - - - 146

Interest rate derivatives – outfl ow (391) (383) (497) (338) -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – infl ow* 8,955 394 1,288 - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outfl ow* (3,073) (790) (1,224) - -

Trade and other payables (5,169) - - - -

Term loan (483) (483) (967) (31,745) -

Financial guarantee contracts (1) (8) - - -

TOTAL 23,322 (1,270) (1,400) (32,083) 146

AS AT 30 JUNE
LESS THAN 

6 MTHS

BETWEEN        
6 MTHS 

& 1 YEAR

BETWEEN      
1 & 2 YEARS 

BETWEEN    
2 & 5 YEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
YEARS

PARENT 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 - - - -

Trade and other receivables 22,456 - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – infl ow - - - - 207

Interest rate derivatives – outfl ow (86) (126) (323) (277) -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – infl ow* 10,494 5,333 96 - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outfl ow* (3,005) (274) (713) - -

Trade and other payables (3,677) - - - -

Term loan (552) (36,092) - - -

Financial guarantee contracts (1,889) - - - -

TOTAL 29,166 (31,159) (940) (277) 207

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

AS AT 30 JUNE
LESS THAN 

6 MTHS

BETWEEN        
6 MTHS 

& 1 YEAR

BETWEEN      
1 & 2 YEARS 

BETWEEN    
2 & 5 YEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
YEARS

PARENT 2011  

Cash and cash equivalents 7,853 - - - -

Trade and other receivables 18,813 - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – infl ow - - - - 146

Interest rate derivatives – outfl ow (391) (383) (497) (338) -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – infl ow* 8,955 394 1,288 - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outfl ow* (3,073) (790) (1,224) - -

Trade and other payables (3,276) - - - -

Term loan (483) (483) (967) (31,745) -

Financial guarantee contracts (1) (8) - - -

TOTAL 28,397 (1,270) (1,400) (32,083) 146

* The flows represent the contractual obligations in New Zealand Dollars of the foreign exchange contracts. 

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 

The table below illustrates what the impact on the profit after tax and total equity would have been if the market risk factors had moved by 
the percentage indicated, assuming all other factors had stayed the same.  The reasonably possible movements in market risk factors have 
been identified as 100 basis point interest rates movement and 10% movement of the New Zealand Dollar against all other currencies.  These 
factors were identified given historical market risk movements experienced by Airways. 

INTEREST RATES
CARRYING 

AMOUNT

DOWN – 100 BASIS POINTS UP + 100 BASIS POINTS

PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY

GROUP 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 (54) (54) 54 54

Term loan – hedged (15,000) - - - -

Term loan – unhedged (21,000) 210 210 (210) (210)

Interest rate derivatives (643) - (1,326) - 1,244

GROUP 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 7,854 (79) (79) 79 79

Term loan – hedged (30,000) - - - -

Interest rate derivatives (1,417) - (1,380) - 1,286

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

INTEREST RATES
CARRYING 

AMOUNT

DOWN – 100 BASIS POINTS UP + 100 BASIS POINTS

PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY

PARENT 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 (54) (54) 54 54

Term loan – hedged (15,000) - - - -

Term loan – unhedged (21,000) 210 210 (210) (210)

Interest rate derivatives (643) - (1,326) - 1,244

PARENT 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 7,853 (79) (79) 79 79

Term loan – hedged (30,000) - - - -

Interest rate derivatives (1,417) - (1,380) - 1,286

FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
CARRYING 

AMOUNT

DOWN – 10% UP + 10%

PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY

GROUP 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,161 116 116 (116) (116)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 469 - (1,211) - 983

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 2,753 275 275 (275) (275)

GROUP 2011 

Cash and cash equivalents 778 78 78 (78) (78)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 1,360 - 359 - (475)

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 1,383 138 138 (138) (138)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
CARRYING 

AMOUNT

DOWN – 10% UP + 10%

PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY

PARENT 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,161 116 116 (116) (116)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 469 - (1,211) - 983

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 2,753 275 275 (275) (275)

PARENT 2011 

Cash and cash equivalents 777 78 78 (78) (78)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 1,360 - 359 - (475)

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 1,383 138 138 (138) (138)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY  

For those instruments recognised at fair value on the balance sheet, fair values are determined according to the following hierarchy: 

Level 1
Quoted market price – Financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

Level 2
Valuation technique using observable inputs – Financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets or quoted 
prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments valued using models where all significant inputs are 
observable.

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Level 3
Valuation techniques with significant non-observable inputs – Financial instruments valued using models where on or more significant inputs 
are not observable.  

The following table analyses the basis of the valuation of classes of financial instruments measured at fair value on the balance sheet: 

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated) 

AS AT 30 JUNE

VALUATION TECHNIQUE

TOTAL

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

QUOTED 
MARKET PRICE

OBSERVABLE 
INPUTS

SIGNIFICANT 
NON-

OBSERVABLE 
INPUTS

GROUP 2010 

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 69 - 69

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 637 - 637

TOTAL ASSETS - 706 - 706

LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (711) - (711)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (168) - (168)

TOTAL LIABILITIES - (879) - (879)

GROUP 2011 

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 5 - 5

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 1,743 - 1,743

TOTAL ASSETS - 1,748 - 1,748

LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (1,421) - (1,421)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (383) - (383)

TOTAL LIABILITIES - (1,804) - (1,804)
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AS AT 30 JUNE

VALUATION TECHNIQUE

TOTAL

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

QUOTED 
MARKET PRICE

OBSERVABLE 
INPUTS

SIGNIFICANT 
NON-

OBSERVABLE 
INPUTS

PARENT 2010 

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 69 - 69

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 637 - 637

TOTAL ASSETS - 706 - 706

LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (711) - (711)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (168) - (168)

TOTAL LIABILITIES - (879) - (879)

PARENT 2011

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 5 - 5

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 1,743 - 1,743

TOTAL ASSETS - 1,748 - 1,748

LIABILITIES

Interest rate derivatives - (1,421) - (1,421)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (383) - (383)

TOTAL LIABILITIES - (1,804) - (1,804)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values for each class of financial instruments: 
(i) The carrying values of cash, current receivables, current payables and unsecured loan are equivalent to their fair values.
(ii)  Derivatives Fair Values

1.  Forward Exchange Contracts values are determined using observable forward exchange market rates at the balance date.
2.  Interest Rate Swaps and Interest Rate Caps are valued using the “Projected” methodology as follows. For floating rates this method 

projects all future floating cash flows and discounts this back to the revaluation date. For fixed rates, the individual cash flows are 
discounted from the cash flow date to the revaluation date. The discount rate used to calculate the NPV of the deal is the zero 
coupon curve, based on a blended swaps curve obtained from Reuters.

3.  Foreign Exchange Options are valued using the Garman and Kohlhagen option valuation model. The model uses a function of the 
current spot rate, the strike rate of the option, current interest rates, the amount of time remaining to maturity and current option 
volatility rates. The resulting value is compared to the strike rate of the option to attain a gain or loss amount.

NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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NOTE 21 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS    

The table below illustrates the total capital commitments for Airways and Parent at balance date.  

Airways will fund this programme through operating cash flow and increase debt (whilst remaining within current loan facilities and 
covenants). 

AS AT 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

 2011  2010  2011 2010

Total capital commitments 7,376 6,397 6,466 5,737

NOTE 22 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS     

Lease commitments under non-cancellable operating leases:  

AS AT 30 JUNE    

 GROUP  PARENT

 2011  2010  2011 2010

Less than one year 4,017 3,503 4,017 3,503

One to two years 3,717 3,203 3,717 3,203

Two to fi ve years 9,161 8,625 9,161 8,625

Over fi ve years 4,276 8,130 4,276 8,130

TOTAL OPERATING LEASE OBLIGATIONS 21,171 23,461 21,171 23,461

These lease commitments relate to both unsigned leases under negotiation, and signed leases.  Management has estimated future lease 
commitments for unsigned leases, based on the most recent lease negotiations.  Airways leases various land, buildings, IT hardware and 
equipment under non cancellable operating lease agreements.  Lease terms are between two and twenty one years and most agreements 
are renewable at the end of the lease period.  

NOTE 23 OTHER LEASES    

During 2003 and 2004 Airways entered into a cross border lease of certain equipment associated with the Skyline Air Traffic Management 
System and Surveillance Systems.  The arrangement is for 24 years and expires in 2027.  The arrangement does not impose any restrictions 
on these assets which would affect the ability to use them in day-to-day operations. 

A guarantee fee was received that will be recognised over the period of the lease.  An amount of $1,228,333 (2010: $1,228, 333) has been 
recognised in the current year and the unrecognised amount is disclosed as deferred income.  

Airways provided certain guarantees and indemnities to various participants in the cross border transaction.  If certain events occur, Airways 
could be liable to make additional payments.  The underlying exposures against which these guarantees and indemnities have been provided 
are substantial.  The Directors believe, based on external advice, that unless exceptional, extreme and unlikely circumstances arise, Airways 
will not be required to make significant payments under these guarantees and indemnities.  The likelihood of losses in respect of these 
guarantees is considered to be remote.  

NOTE 24 CONTINGENT LIABLITIES  

Airways has contingent liabilities in respect to financial guarantee contracts of $0.9 million (2010: $1.9 million) in addition to those identified in 
note 23 and note 27. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NZIFRS
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NOTE 25 GROUP ENTITIES AND OWNERSHIP     

Airways is a State-Owned Enterprise, wholly owned by the New Zealand Government.  Its shareholders are the Minister of Finance and the 
Minister of State-Owned Enterprises.  Airways International Limited, Airways Equipment Limited and Airways Training Limited are wholly 
owned by Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited. 

    

COUNTRY OF 
INCORPORATION

PERCENTAGE 
SHAREHOLDING

PRINCIPAL 
ACTIVITIES 

Airways International Limited New Zealand 100%
Air Navigation Services, maintenance 
of systems, consultancy and training

Airways Equipment Limited New Zealand 100%
A participant in a cross border lease 
transaction entered into by Airways

Airways Training Limited New Zealand 100% Holding company 

Aviation English Services New Zealand 50% Aviation English Training Joint Venture 

During the period the Parent’s investment in Airways Training Limited was written down by $nil (2010: $98,038). The Parent’s investment was 
fully written off in 2010 inline with the net value of the subsidiary. This is shown in the statement of comprehensive income.

NOTE 26 RELATED PARTIES     

The Parent assumes responsibility for the tax (credit)\liability of Airways International Limited ($44,156); (2010: $2,419,493).  

A management fee was charged to Airways International Limited by the Parent of $22,385,757 (2010: $21,106,202).

Airways International Limited charged the Parent a management fee of $22,385,757 (2010: $21,106,202) 

The Parent was charged a rental fee by Airways Equipment Limited of $1,213,350 (2010: $1,213,350) and received a management fee of 
$1,200,000 (2010: $1,200,000) from Airways Equipment Limited. 

Airways enters into a large number of transactions with government departments, Crown entities, State-owned enterprises and other entities 
controlled or subject to significant influence by the Crown.  These transactions are not separately disclosed where they are conducted on 
normal commercial terms and result from the normal dealings of the parties.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE     

 GROUP  PARENT

 2011  2010  2011 2010

KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

Salaries and other short-term employee benefi ts 1,867 1,739 1,867 1,739

Termination benefi ts 207 - 207 -

Kiwisaver/superannuation contributions 79 71 79 71

2,153 1,810 2,153 1,810

DIRECTORS FEES

Directors Fees paid 268 259 268 259

Key management are considered to be the Chief Executive Officer, his direct reports and the Board of Directors.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NZIFRS
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AS AT 30 JUNE     

 GROUP  PARENT

 2011  2010  2011 2010

INTERCOMPANY BALANCES  

Aviation English Services – Joint Venture 380 71 82 27

Airways International Limited - - 8,097 10,506

Airways Equipment Limited - - (177) (168)

INTERCOMPANY LOAN 

Airways Training Limited - - 3 183

SHAREHOLDERS

Dividends paid 6,000 5,000 6,000 5,000

A provision for doubtful debts of $189,125 was recognised during the year on related party balances (2010: $75,841) due to the Parent.  
Refer to note 27 for amounts written-off by the Group in respect of the Joint Venture.

NOTE 27 JOINT VENTURE AND OTHER INVESTMENTS      

JOINT VENTURE   

Airways has a 50% participating interest in an aviation english training Joint Venture.  Under the Joint Venture, profits and losses are shared 
equally.  The Joint Venture runs its operation under the name Aviation English Services. 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE      

 GROUP  PARENT

 2011  2010  2011 2010

INCOME STATEMENT   

The Group’s 50% share of operating revenues and  expenses for the 
year, equity accounted, was:

Revenue 152 212 - -

Expenses (341) (386) - -

NET CONTRIBUTION TO OPERATING 
(LOSS)/SURPLUS

(189) (174) - -

Airways’ share of the Joint Venture’s recognised revenue and expenses has been recognised as a reduction in the carrying value of the 
investment of $nil (2010: $98,038) and a reduction in the Airways’ receivable from the Joint Venture of $189,125 (2010: $75,841).

Under the Joint Venture, Airways is jointly and severally liable for the obligations of the Joint Venture. Airways’ maximum potential exposure 
in this regard is 100% of the Joint Venture’s obligations. No provision has been recognised in respect of these obligations as management 
consider that it is possible but not probable that such an outflow is required at balance date.

NOTE 26 RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
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AS AT 30 JUNE       

 GROUP  PARENT

 2011  2010  2011 2010

BALANCE SHEET   

The Group’s 50% share of the balance sheet , was:

CURRENT ASSETS 

Trade receivables 6 40 - -

Other current assets 11 - - -

17 40 - -

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Intangible assets - 165 - -

- 165 - -

SHARE OF TOTAL ASSETS INCLUDED IN GROUP 17 205 - -

CURRENT LIABLITIES 

Bank (91) (142) - -

Accrued liabilities (70) (69) - -

Loan – Airways (105) (105) - -

(266) (316) - -

NET ASSETS EMPLOYED IN THE JOINT VENTURE    (249) (111) - -

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE

Balance as at 1 July - 98 - -

Share of recognised revenues and expenses - (98) - -

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE - - - -

OTHER INVESTMENTS 

Investment subsidiaries - - 100 100

Other investments - 23 - -

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE - 23 100 100

NOTE 27 JOINT VENTURE AND OTHER INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
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NOTE 28 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS      

There have been no significant events occurring since balance date requiring disclosure. 

NOTE 29 RECONCILIATION OF THE NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO REPORTED SURPLUS   

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

 GROUP  PARENT

NOTES 2011  2010  2011 2010

NET SURPLUS/(LOSS) AFTER TAXATION 4,707 (940) 4,958 (2,078)

ADD NON CASH ITEMS  

Accounting (surplus)/loss on sale of fi xed assets (22) (12) 3 (17) 6

Amortisation 980 991 520 556 13

Depreciation 13,056 13,231 11,743 11,996 12

Asset impairment 875 - 359 - 12,13

Investment impairment - - - 98

Share of loss from Joint Venture 189 174 - - 27

TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS FOR ITEMS IN 
SURPLUS NOT IMPACTING CASH FLOW 

15,078 14,384 12,625 12,633

ADD MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS

Increase/(decrease) in payables (544) 7,828 (690) (3,438)

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 5,650 (3,416) 7,936 (123)

TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS FOR ITEMS NOT IN 
SURPLUS IMPACTING CASH FLOW 

5,106 4,412 7,246 (3,561)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

24,891 17,856 24,829 6,994

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NZIFRS
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AUDIT REPORT  NZIFRS

TO THE READERS OF AIRWAYS CORPORATION OF NEW ZEALAND LIMITED AND GROUP’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited (the Company) and Group. The Auditor-General has 

appointed me, Fred Hutchings, using the staff and resources of PricewaterhouseCoopers, to carry out the audit of the fi nancial statements 

of the Company and Group, on her behalf. 

We have audited the fi nancial statements of the Company and Group on pages 60 to 100,  that comprise the balance sheets as at 30 

June 2011, the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash fl ows for the year ended 

on that date and the notes to the fi nancial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory information.

OPINION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

In our opinion the fi nancial statements of the Company and Group on pages 60 to 100:

 » comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;

 » comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and

 » give a true and fair view of the Company and Group’s:

 – fi nancial positions as at 30 June 2011; and

 – fi nancial performances and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date.

OPINION ON OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993 we report that, in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the 

Company as far as appears from an examination of those records.

Our audit was completed on 25 August 2011. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of Directors and our responsibilities, 

and explain our independence.

BASIS OF OPINION

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the International Standards on 

Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall understanding of the 

fi nancial statements. If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. The 

procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements 

whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation of the Company 

and Group’s fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate. We consider internal control in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the Company and Group’s internal control.
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An audit also involves evaluating:

 » the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently applied;

 » the reasonableness of the signifi cant accounting estimates and judgements made by the Board of Directors;

 » the adequacy of all disclosures in the fi nancial statements; and

 » the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the fi nancial statements. In accordance with the Financial 

Reporting Act 1993, we report that we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required. We believe we have obtained 

suffi cient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing fi nancial statements that:

 » comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

 » give a true and fair view of the Company and Group’s fi nancial positions, fi nancial performances and cash fl ows. 

The Board of Directors is also responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of fi nancial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986 and the Financial Reporting Act 1993. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDITOR

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the fi nancial statements and reporting that opinion to you based on our 

audit. Our responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 19(1) of the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

INDEPENDENCE

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence 

requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.

In addition to the audit we have carried out assignments in the areas of other assurance services and provided taxation services with respect 

GST returns and the cross border lease, which are compatible with those independence requirements. Other than the audit and these 

assignments, we have no relationship with or interests in the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Fred Hutchings      PricewaterhouseCoopers

On behalf of the Auditor-General

Wellington, New Zealand

AUDIT REPORT (CONT.)  NZIFRS

MATTERS RELATING TO THE ELECTRONIC PRESENTATION OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This audit report relates to the financial statements of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited (the Company) and Group for the year ended 30 June 
2011 included on the company’s website. The Board of Directors is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company‘s website. We have not 
been engaged to report on the integrity of the company’s website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial 
statements since they were initially presented on the website.  

The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to or from the financial statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication 
they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial statements and related audit report dated 25 August 2011 to confirm the information 
included in the audited financial statements presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial information may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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EVA KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  EVA 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE        2011  2010

DEBT & EQUITY EMPLOYED

Debt Employed  43,854 50,043

Equity Employed 98,862 97,579

TOTAL DEBT & EQUITY EMPLOYED 142,716 147,622

CAPITAL EMPLOYED AS FOLLOWS

Air Navigation Services 128,425 130,704

Airways International 14,291 16,918

TOTAL DEBT & EQUITY EMPLOYED 142,716 147,622

CHARGE ON OPERATING CAPITAL

Air Navigation Services 8,206 7,943

Airways International 1,288 1,334

TOTAL CHARGE ON OPERATING CAPITAL 9,494 9,277

CHARGE ON EQUITY CAPITAL

Charge on Equity Capital 7,820 7,142

CHARGE ON EQUITY CAPITAL 7,820 7,142

ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED

Air Navigation Services 1,485 33

Airways International (1,366) 1,555

TOTAL ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED 119 1,588

SUMMARY OF PARAMETERS FOR COST CAPITAL

Risk free rate – 5 year Government Stock 4.47% 5.08%

Market risk premium 7.0% 8.0%

Company tax rate 30% 30%

Business risk factor (asset beta)

       Air Navigation Services 0.45 0.30

       Airways International 0.69 0.60

       Airways Corporation of NZ Ltd (weighted average) 0.48 0.34

Cost of Capital

       Air Navigation Services 6.28% 5.96%

       Airways International 7.94% 9.04%

       Airways Corporation of NZ Ltd (weighted average) 6.49% 6.28%

Cost of Equity Capital

       Equity Risk factor (equity beta) 0.67 0.40

       Cost of equity 7.79% 6.76%

EVA measures the extent to which a business is performing above or below expectations. A positive EVA means the business is adding value 
after allowing for a normal reward to the providers of capital.

The EVA Principles & Policies applied by Airways and further explanations on EVA can be found at; 
http://www.airways.co.nz/about_Airways/corporate-publications.asp  

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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REPORT TO THE READERS OF THE EVA KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS OF AIRWAYS CORPORATION OF 
NEW ZEALAND LIMITED AND GROUP FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

PricewaterhouseCoopers audit the fi nancial statements of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited and Group (Airways) on behalf 

of the Auditor-General. PricewaterhouseCoopers has been engaged to provide reasonable assurance over the economic value added 

(EVA) key performance indicators (KPIs) of Airways, detailed on page 103 of this document.  

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors of Airways are responsible for the preparation of the KPIs, in accordance with the EVA policies and principles adopted by 

Airways.  A link to the EVA policies and principles adopted by Airways is provided on page 103 of this document.   

The Directors’ responsibilities include establishing and maintaining a system of internal control relevant to the preparation of the KPIs to 

ensure they are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance that the KPIs have been calculated in accordance with the EVA policies and 

principles adopted by Airways.

BASIS OF OPINION

An assurance engagement includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant to the KPIs.

Our engagement has been conducted in accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (New Zealand) 

“Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”.

We planned and performed our assurance engagement so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 

necessary in order to provide us with suffi cient and appropriate evidence to obtain reasonable assurance that the KPIs have been calculated 

in accordance with the EVA policies and principles adopted by Airways.

We have no relationship with or interests in Airways other than in our capacities as assurance providers in conducting this engagement and 

other assurance services, and as auditors of Airways on behalf of the Auditor-General.

UNQUALIFIED OPINION 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.

Based on our reasonable assurance engagement, the EVA KPIs on page 103 have been calculated in accordance with the EVA policies and 

principles adopted by Airways.

Our engagement was completed on 25 August 2011 and our opinion is expressed as at that date.

Fred Hutchings      PricewaterhouseCoopers

On behalf of the Auditor-General

Wellington, New Zealand

AUDIT REPORT  EVA

MATTERS RELATING TO THE ELECTRONIC PRESENTATION OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This audit report relates to the financial statements of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited (the Company) and Group for the year ended 30 June 
2011 included on the company’s website. The Board of Directors is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company‘s website. We have not 
been engaged to report on the integrity of the company’s website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial 
statements since they were initially presented on the website.  

The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to or from the financial statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication 
they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial statements and related audit report dated 25 August 2011 to confirm the information 
included in the audited financial statements presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial information may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION    

DIRECTORS INSURANCE 

Airways has arranged Director’s and Officer’s Liability Insurance which includes cover for Directors against loss from any claims made against 
them arising from acts in their capacity as Directors.  Certain actions are specifically excluded.

DIRECTORS FEES PAID 1 JULY 2010 – 30 JUNE 2011  

DIRECTOR AMOUNT

C Anastasiou $58,000

S Paterson $36,250

A Briscoe  $29,000

S Huria $29,000

T Murdoch $29,000

D Park $29,000

S Putt $29,000

G Reeves $29,000

TOTAL $268,250

Note:  The above schedule of Directors Fees represents the actual date of payment over the period and therefore may not reflect annualised 
fees payable. 

TOTAL REMUNERATION OVER $100,000  

REMUNERATION BAND TOTAL STAFF

EXECUTIVE/
SENIOR 

MANAGERS
OPERATIONAL 

STAFF

$100,000 - $110,000 60 1 59

$110,000 - $120,000 55 3 52

$120,000 - $130,000 67 - 67

$130,000 - $140,000 41 1 40

$140,000 - $150,000 54 2 52

$150,000 - $160,000 54 2 52

$160,000 - $170,000 63 2 61

$170,000 - $180,000 59 5 54

$180,000 - $190,000 30 3 27

$190,000 - $200,000 14 1 13

$200,000 - $210,000 2 1 1

$220,000 - $230,000 1 1 -

$230,000 - $240,000 2 2 -

$240,000 - $250,000 1 1 -

$280,000 - $290,000 2 2 -

$430,000 - $440,000 1 1 -

506 28 478
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DIRECTORY

BANKERS
ANZ National Bank Limited
Bank of New Zealand Limited

AUDITORS
Fred Hutchings, with the assistance of
PricewaterhouseCoopers on behalf of 
the Auditor-General

REGISTERED OFFICE
Level 26, 
Majestic Centre
100 Willis Street
PO Box 294
Wellington 6140
New Zealand

INTERNET ADDRESS
www.airways.co.nz
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The Marist Flyers hockey team is a team of survivors.  Most of 

the team comes from the east side of the city and at least some 

from the Red Zone.  Many of us are from St. Paul’s Catholic 

school where our original school site was devastated by the 

September earthquake only 4 days after we buried our beloved 

Father Miles who died unexpectedly. 

Our church has already been demolished and we are now at 

our third church location. As a school, we initially moved to share 

the site of Cathedral College on Barbadoes Street, but as we all 

know, after the February quake the beautiful Cathedral of the 

Blessed Sacrament was severely damaged and the dome has 

been brought down. But not before we had to move again, this 

time to our current site at Champion Street. 

All in all, we have missed quite a lot of school over the past 

10 months.  A number of our families have had virtually a year 

with no sewerage or drainage services and have had to clear 

liquefaction from their properties on numerous occasions.  A few 

have had to relocate their homes already, while others of us are in 

the Red Zone and now need to fi nd a new home.

But one home we still have, and are very proud of, is Marist 

Hockey.  Luckily our lovely new turf was unharmed in the quakes 

and so it can continue to be used. 

The spirit of Marist Hockey is awesome and we are so grateful 

that this part of our lives can carry on as normal - playing hockey on 

Saturdays is something the Flyers love and we are getting better all 

the time. It is comforting to have something stay the same in this 

ever changing and uncertain future we all face in our beloved city.

To be given the opportunity to get team jackets was fantastic 

– it has really helped to bring the team even closer together. We 

absolutely love our new Marist jackets and appreciate the very 

generous sponsorship from Airways NZ. 

Thanks so much from the Marist Flyers! 

Marist Flyers Hockey Team 2011
In 2011, Airways extended its sponsorship portfolio to include support for communities 
affected by the earthquakes. This is a letter we received from one of 'our' teams...



Jill Murphy came to Airways as part of ATC cadet intake 

No. 19 in January 1981. On the eve of her death, she was 

preparing to attend a 30-year reunion with her classmates of 

’81. Jill worked as an ATC throughout New Zealand and also 

as an instructor at the Training Centre in Christchurch, passing 

on her love of the job to future generations. Jill helped ‘make 

the world possible’ for 30 years and we will never forget the 

enormous contribution she has made to our business. 

“Jilly was a highly skilled controller and a respected and loved 

member of Christchurch Tower. She never failed to turn up at work 

with a smile on her face and a story to tell. Jilly’s family was the 

most important thing in her life and she was always talking about 

how proud she was of Taylor, Bond and Sam and how wonderful 

her life was with Richard by her side. Jilly bought a sense of fun to 

the tower and captured the hearts of us all with her caring nature 

and her love of life.”                                                                         

John Davis, Team Leader  Christchurch Tower

Tragically taken in Cashel Mall as a result of the February 22 earthquake




